



Graduate Theses, Dissertations, and Problem Reports

2009

# Evaluation of the expansion of behavioral health services in a rural, primary care clinic: A pilot project

Carolyn L. Donovan West Virginia University

Follow this and additional works at: https://researchrepository.wvu.edu/etd

#### **Recommended Citation**

Donovan, Carolyn L., "Evaluation of the expansion of behavioral health services in a rural, primary care clinic: A pilot project" (2009). *Graduate Theses, Dissertations, and Problem Reports.* 3504. https://researchrepository.wvu.edu/etd/3504

This Dissertation is protected by copyright and/or related rights. It has been brought to you by the The Research Repository @ WVU with permission from the rights-holder(s). You are free to use this Dissertation in any way that is permitted by the copyright and related rights legislation that applies to your use. For other uses you must obtain permission from the rights-holder(s) directly, unless additional rights are indicated by a Creative Commons license in the record and/ or on the work itself. This Dissertation has been accepted for inclusion in WVU Graduate Theses, Dissertations, and Problem Reports collection by an authorized administrator of The Research Repository @ WVU. For more information, please contact researchrepository@mail.wvu.edu.

## Evaluation of the Expansion of Behavioral Health Services in a Rural, Primary Care Clinic: A Pilot Project

Carolyn L. Donovan, MSN, PMHCNS - BC, FNP-C

Doctoral Research Project submitted to the School of Nursing at West Virginia University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

**Doctor of Nursing Practice** 

Susan McCrone, PhD, RN Chair Aaron Henry, MBA Nan Leslie, PhD, RN Benjamin Miller, PsyD.

Morgantown, WV 2009

Keywords: integration, collaboration, behavioral health, primary care, colocation, barriers

#### Abstract

The trend towards integrated behavioral health and primary care services has been supported by the literature. To meet the growing demand for such services, one rural primary care clinic initiated and evaluated a pilot program increasing the number of behavioral health providers. One additional counselor was hired for six hours a week for twelve weeks. The aim of the evaluation was to determine if there was an increase in availability of services, improved communication about referred patients among providers, and increased satisfaction among patients. While outcomes were not statistically significant, positive changes were noted in all areas. The implementation was hampered by budgetary constraints, hiring freezes and space limitations. The evaluation of the pilot supports expansion of integrated services in the clinic.

#### Acknowledgements

I would like to extend my sincerest appreciation to my capstone committee, Dr. Susan McCrone, Aaron Henry, Dr. Nan Leslie, and Dr. Ben Miller, whose guidance, wisdom and support made this project possible.

A special note of thanks is conveyed to those mentors in the field of psychology and nursing who encouraged my growth through the years – the late Dr. Donald Carter, Dr, John Zuboy and Dr. Mary Jane Smith; all very special teachers.

To my husband, Fred, special thanks for his patience, understanding and support that shone the light at the darkest hours and lastly, I dedicate this work to my mother, Dorothy O'Donnell, RN, who influenced my career choice and whose presence is sorely missed at the completion of this project.

### Table of Contents

Introduction	
Significance of the Problem	1
Theoretical Framework	5
Project Description	7
Literature Review	11
Program Objectives	
Marketing Plan	
Project Design	
Resources	22
Equipment	22
Budget and financial plan	
Key site support	25
Evaluation Plan	26
Evaluation	27
Table 1. Provider Groups	
Table 2. Patient Groups	
Table 3. Staff Groups	
Discussion	
Proposal Modifications	
Application of Theoretical Framework	
Recommendations	
Conclusion	50
References	

Appendix A: Certificate Program in Primary Care Behavioral Health	61
Rationale for the Program:	
Appendix B	62
Appendix C: Force Field Analysis	63
Appendix D: Proforma Budget for Behavioral Health Clinicians	64
Appendix E	65
Appendix F	66
Appendix G	67
Appendix I	69
Appendix J	70
Appendix K	72
Appendix L	73
Appendix M	74
Appendix N	78
Appendix O	79
Appendix P	81
Appendix Q	82
Appendix R	84
Appendix S	85

#### Introduction

#### Significance of the Problem

The topic of mental health problems in primary care has been well documented in the literature (Regier et al., 1993; deGruy, 1996; Blount, 1998; Strosahl, 1998; Bower & Sibbald, 2003; Tovian, 2009). In 1993, Reiger et al. identified primary care as the defacto mental health system in the United States. The authors identified that most people with mental health concerns sought services in the primary care setting. Estimates vary, but it has been identified that approximately 50% of all mental health services are provided in primary care (DHHR, 1999; AAFP, 2001; Henning, 2000; WHO, 2001; Lui et al., 2003; Kessler, 2009). One study found that 60% to 70% of patients presenting symptoms to their primary care provider have no diagnosable somatic disorder (Reiger et al., 1993). These are symptoms that have no biological basis and account for physical complaints such as chest pain, shortness of breath, fatigue, dizziness, insomnia, abdominal pain and numbness. The mental health problems identified in this paper include not only disorders that are diagnosable according to the DSM-IV, but also subthreshold problems such as stress, relationship difficulties, and financial hardships (deGruy, 1996). The care of patients with complex medical problems as well as mental health problems is challenging to providers. Providing care for such patients can lead to overutilization of medical services, increased costs, and poorer patient outcomes (Lefevre et al., 1999; Horn, 2003; Cummings, O'Donohue, & Cummings, 2009).

Over the past ten years there has been a gradual shift from the biomedical approach of providing health care to a biopsychosocial approach (Engel, 1977). George Engel's seminal article on the biopsychosocial model in *Science (1977)* introduced a more comprehensive model of disease, which included biological, psychological and social factors. Further, as Engel outlined, instituting a new model of care would decrease the limitations of the biomedical model and offer a new approach to understanding and treating various diseases within health. The biopsychosocial model was proposed as an alternative to the traditional biomedical approach that had been pervasive throughout medical history.

A movement in patient care delivery that is informed by the biopsychosocial model is integrated care. Integrated care is defined as a model of integrating mental health clinicians into primary care (Blount, 2003; Miller, Mendenhall & Malik, 2009). The terms integrated care and collaborative care have been used interchangeably throughout the literature, and will be used interchangeably in this manuscript as well. In 2002, the Report of the President's New Freedom Commission on Mental Health identified coordination between primary care and behavioral health as a major initiative (New Freedom Commission on Mental Health, 2002). Integrated mental and physical health care occurs when mental and general medical care providers work together to address both the physical and mental health needs of their patient (AHQR, 2008, p.9).

Although the biopsychosocial or integrated models of care appears to present a solution to service delivery, there are many barriers. Some barriers concerned the information or misinformation regarding mental health problems presented in primary care. These barriers implicated primary care providers, patients, and the system in which

care was received as the predominate source of the problems (WHO, 2001). Providers, lacking sufficient skills and training, often misidentified symptoms (Goldman, Brody, & Wise, 1998; Hodges, Inch, & Silver, 2001). Patients may inappropriately represent their symptoms or withhold information fearing disclosure of their mental health issues, which leads to further misdiagnoses. The system is not always accepting of patients with mental health problems because social stigma identifies them as different, demanding, and frightening (deGruy, 1996). Unfortunately, inadequate recognition and treatment of mental health problems in primary care can lead to worsening comorbidities, chronicity of mental health problems, and at the extreme, possible suicide (Klinkman, 2003; Tylee & Gandhi, 2005).

In 2000, the administration of Harpers Ferry Family Medicine, a rural health clinic, recognized the need for including behavioral health services in primary care. This was evident based upon the number of patients who were seen in the clinic with mental health related concerns. The trend toward integrated primary care behavioral health services was recognized and the service began in March, 2000. An advanced practice nurse (APRN) board certified in both adult mental health and family medicine was hired. An integrated or collaborative care model, in which a behavioral health provider was colocated in the clinic setting, or having shared office space and resources, was launched (Blount, 2003). Patients who would receive care were non-targeted with no psychiatric specific treatment modality identified. A non-targeted patient population refers to those patients who are diagnosed with a variety of mental health problems and are treated without a particular behavioral treatment strategy planned. For instance, a patient with anxiety may be taught relaxation exercises or hypnosis. However, this therapy plan would

not predetermined. The targeted patient population differs in that a patient with a specific problem such as anxiety would be admitted to a predesigned group teaching diaphragmatic breathing. Each intervention for behavioral health service was established based on patient history, clinical assessment, and self administered psychiatric inventories such as the Mood Disorder Questionnaire (Hirschfield, 2002) and/or the Patient Health Questionnaire- 9 (PHQ-9; Spitzer, Kroenke, & Williams, 1999). The interventions were conducted in a traditional mental health model allocating 30 or 45 minutes for each visit.

The integrated primary care behavioral health service has been successful since the inception. Visits have increased and have capped at 1500 adult patients seen yearly. The number of visits has doubled since 2001. However, with only one qualified behavioral health provider who has limited appointment times and a growing patient base, it has been deemed necessary to add additional providers to meet the needs of clinic patients. Patients are seen in a traditional mental health model which includes thirty or forty-five minute visits with the clinician. In addition, the service as an entity within the clinic lacks a formalized structure with policies.

One area of interest included in long term planning is certification for both mental health clinicians and for the formalized program. Clinician certification may be achieved through the Department of Family Medicine and Community Health of the University of Massachusetts Medical School. This certificate program will provide 36 hours of training specific to integration issues (Integrated Primary Care, 2009). The purpose of the program is to prepare mental health clinicians to work in primary care. Upon completion, the program provides a certificate to the learner. This program will be especially useful to

new mental health graduates who were trained in a traditional behavioral health model (Appendix A).

Program accreditation would be sought from the Commission on Accreditation of Rehabilitation Facilities (CARF). CARF, under the Behavioral Health field categories, offers accreditation to a variety of mental health programs and facilities including integrated primary care /behavioral health programs (CARF, 2009). Accreditation has multiple benefits for a program. Accreditation assures that patients who seek care in an integrated primary care behavioral health program (PCBH) will receive care that meets the high standards set by the accrediting body. In addition, quality standards dictated by CARF will be continuously monitored (Appendix B). Funds for certification for clinicians and the program will be considered based on future budgets and a financially sound program. As a long term goal, these certifications would elevate the status of the program by meeting the required standards and assisting clinicians in keeping current with treatment options.

Therefore, this project will address a plan to expand already existing integrated primary care behavioral health services in this clinic. The proposal will also discuss the program structure, recruitment, hiring and credentialing of clinicians.

#### Theoretical Framework

The conceptual framework guiding this project will be Kurt Lewin's three step change theory. Lewin, a social scientist, believed an issue is held in balance by the interaction of two opposing sets of forces (Lewin, 1951). Forces seeking to change the system were labeled as driving forces, and those against the change, restraining forces.

Lewin believed that organizations are systems in which the present situation is not a static pattern but a dynamic balance of forces working in opposition (Lewin, 1951). In order for change to occur, the driving force must exceed the restraining force. This component of Lewin's theory is called force field analysis (Hershey, Blanchard, & Johnson, 1996).

Three key concepts have been identified in Lewin's theories that make planned change occur: unfreezing the status quo, moving to a new state, and refreezing the change to make it permanent (Hershey, Blanchard, & Johnson, 1996). In the unfreezing stage of this project, the problem identified is the lack of sufficient behavioral health services to meet the needs of the clinic population. The need for change will be communicated to the management of the clinic and also to various staff and providers. The APRN, in a continued effort to relay the need for change, will meet with the management to discuss the planned change. Information regarding increased demand for services, loss of referrals and revenue, and a plan for creative percentage fee for service pay for new hires will be presented and reviewed. This data will inform the change. Discomfort will arise from the unknown, particularly regarding the revenue generating potential of new hires and their ability to adjust their practice style to the primary care culture. Triage nurses will have concerns about the ability to schedule the new providers and billing staff will have concerns about credentialing and payments. These concerns have been discussed with regard to the current service by the staff when the service was initially started.

For planned change to successfully occur, it is important to unlock the status quo (Kassean & Jagoo, 2005). Consistent with Lewin's theory, a force field analysis will be completed (Appendix C). A timeline draft will be submitted to manage the change. This change process will be presented at a staff/ faculty meeting outlining the steps to be

taken. The timeline is a six week period in which the unfreezing would occur. This would include: program development, space, fee for service structure, billing, and credentialing.

The moving phase will occur after advertising for the position results in the hiring of the clinicians. The new hires will begin to provide services as referrals will be appropriately directed to them. An evaluation of the services will occur at six weeks after the inception of the expansion. Surveys will be given to patients regarding the availability of services and their satisfaction (Appendix H). Line and support staff will be encouraged to give feedback regarding the different aspects of the program. For instance, billing will provide feedback regarding pre-certification of insurances and collections since the hires will be multidisciplinary behavioral providers and not solely advanced practice psychiatric nurses. Also, feedback from faculty providers regarding the ease of referrals will be elicited.

In the refreezing phase of the capstone project, final change will be recognized at a staff /faculty meeting when the results of surveys and outcomes will be provided to the group. Additional feedback from the clinic administrator and program director will secure the new services. Staffing patterns for the clinicians would become permanent.

Lewin's concepts are adaptable and relate well to this capstone project. The change model provides a process by which services can be expanded in a structured, planned approach with positive outcomes.

#### **Project Description**

This project proposal grew from the success of an existing service. The service has produced positive clinical outcomes for patients and providers. With an increase in

demand for services and opportunities to increase services, the project will approach expansion as a planned change program. The program will have three specific objectives:

(1) design and construct and integrated program; (2) hire additional behavioral health staff; and (3) secure certification for clinicians and the program.

Objective	Specifics	Measure	Action	Realistic	Timeline
1. To design and construct the program	Program Structure	Completed policies addressing no shows, late cancellation policy, assessed fees for n/s, medication refills, continuity of care	Gathering and adapting policies from other sources to provide guidelines to IBH program; identifying paneling and credentialing issues; site identified and remodeling begun	Yes	November 22, 2008
2. To interview and hire clinicians	Hire Clinicians	One part time clinician will be hired	Contract signed, background check complete, office complete, paneling and credentialing with insurance companies completed, patients being referred to provider; one chronic care group will begin; 2 walk-in /emergency appointments available per week; ½ day clinic day for consultations	Yes	February 9, 2009
3. To secure certification	Certification	Project manager will be certified as funds allow	Completion of certification course documented; Application packet from CARF will be requested as funds allow; voluntary certification available to new clinician(s) for 2010 program	Yes	January 2010

The expansion project acknowledges the value of integrated primary care behavioral health services and recognizes that it is state of the art treatment for behavioral health problems (Blount, 1998; Strosahl, 1998; Robinson & Reiter, 2007). The program is also congruent with the clinic's newly adopted concept of "medical home". The medical home concept gained attention from the "2002 Future of Family Medicine" project initiated by seven national family medicine organizations (Kahn, 2004). The patient centered care model or access model refers to a patient's ability to secure appropriate and preferred medical assistance where and when it is needed (Berry, Selders, & Wilder, 2003). The guiding principles of the Patient Centered Medical Home (PCMH) are having a personal physician who directs the medical practice, providing a whole person orientation with integrated, coordinated care, quality and safety, technology and enhanced access to care (Graham, 2007). Integrated primary care behavioral health enriches and supports the medical home concept (Patterson, Phillips, Bazemore, Dodoo, Zhang, & Green, 2008). Patients often comment on how smoothly a referral was made and what a convenience it is to receive mental health services within the primary care setting.

In keeping with the mission of Harpers Ferry Family Medicine and the Eastern Division of West Virginia University, the integrated behavioral health primary care program expansion will address the needs of patients, faculty, residents, medical students, and the community at large by providing high caliber care and excellent opportunities for learning. Expanding services will provide enhanced educational opportunities for family practice residents and other health sciences center students who may rotate through the clinic by incorporating the mental health care of patients within their primary care

experiences. Teaching will occur through didactic education and real time interactions with patients in concert with the behavioral health professionals. In addition, at Harpers Ferry Family Medicine, there is a commitment to change in order to achieve excellence. New and innovative ways to serve patients are being explored within the context of the medical home concept. A Sunrise Sick Call Clinic, a webpage for patients, and email to providers from patients, are ways that patient satisfaction and the acceptance of the medical home have been promoted. Accessibility is a hallmark of the medical home and the ability for patients to see a behavioral health provider in their primary care facility is an important aspect of that care (Arvantes, 2008; Patterson et al., 2008).

#### Literature Review

The integration of primary care and behavioral or mental health care is a trend in patient care delivery that has grown over the last fifteen years. Integrated care is a model of delivery that emphasizes the connection of the mind and body and has been defined by several leaders in the field (Blount, 1998; Strosahl, 1998; Robinson & Reiter, 2007). In the seminal work of George Engel (1977), medicine as it had been practiced was denounced. In addition, there was a declaration that this disconnected approach to care was inadequate to meet the complex needs of patients. This denunciation, and Engel's biopsychosocial model of care, paved the way for what we now identify as integrated primary care or integrated behavioral health care. Blount (1998) believes that by connecting physical and mental health care in a primary care setting, the body mind split is avoided. He further asserts that integrated primary care "is the structural realization of the biopsychosocial model that Engel advocated so broadly in family medicine" (p.2).

Models of integrated and collaborative care between primary care and behavioral health have received numerous endorsements (AAFP, 1999; DHHR, 1999; WHO, 2001; SAMHSA, 2004).

While the field has grown and more information emerges, there are concerns about the continued preference for the biomedical model of care. Blount (1998) questions why "when the evidence appears to be so compelling, but has not been compelling enough" to change the paradigm completely (p.122). However, there is little high level evidence specifically demonstrating the efficacy of integrated care (AHRQ, 2008). Early literature discussed a collaborative care model while other authors described an integrated system. These terms have caused confusion in that each describes a different relationship within the medical and behavioral health systems (Blount, 2003). Doherty, McDaniel, & Baird (1996) described dimensions of care between systems and define levels of collaboration. Further elucidation is provided by Blount (2003) who categorized the relationships between the providers, the relationships of service to populations, and specificity of services provided. In this paper, the terms "collaborative" and "integrated" have been used interchangeably.

Within existing research, response to integrated care has been positive but limited. In a randomized control trial (RCT) by Unutzer et al. (2002), a collaborative intervention program for late life depression was studied. This large study included eighteen primary care clinics in five states with six hundred fifty participants in both the control group and the intervention group. The outcome revealed decreased depression for the treatment group as well as increased quality of life. The authors do admit biases within the study which may have favorably affected the study. Notification to the referring physician

when a patient meeting the study criteria was assigned to usual care was identified as a flaw. The authors surmise that this notification impacted treatment favorably in that the intervention may not have occurred in usual care (Unutzer, et al, 2002). Another limitation included reliance on self reports of medical conditions and on medication use.

Katon, Roy-Byrne, Russo, & Crowley (2002) conducted a RCT in which one hundred fifteen primary care patients with panic disorder were assigned to a collaborative care intervention. This intervention included systematic patient education and two visits by a consulting psychiatrist. Telephone assessments were performed at three, six, nine, and twelve months. The results of the study indicated that the patients who received the intervention had more anxiety free days. The study further demonstrated lower costs with greater effectiveness. The authors note several limitations that may have affected the study. Failure to consider the effect of anxiety from a broader perspective such as employment (lost days and productivity) and on earning potential and marital stability was discussed (Katon et al., 2002). Additionally, patients' time off from work to attend physician visits in the study, travel time to and from the clinic, waiting time in the clinic, and time with the physician were not considered. With adjusted calculations for both employed and unemployed patients, an additional cost savings per patient was associated with the collaborative care intervention.

An effectiveness study using survey data compared integrated mental health care with enhanced referral care. The study, "The Primary Care Research in Substance Abuse and Mental Health for the Elderly (PRISM-E)", compared integrated behavioral health care versus enhanced referral care in primary care settings across the United States. Of the one hundred twenty seven clinicians who were surveyed, most preferred the

integrated model for most of the mental health care (Gallo et al., 2004). Additionally, the respondents affirmed that communication between primary care clinicians and behavioral health clinicians was superior in collaborative care versus referral care. One limitation of this study was that the data was elicited via survey and may not be generalized to all clinicians. Another limitation was the small sample size.

Further support of an integrated model of care is described in a survey study by Farrar et al. (2001). This report described satisfaction surveys developed and sent to family physicians, psychiatrists, and counselors. Each questionnaire was specifically tailored to the respective discipline and each asked questions pertinent to patient and provider satisfaction. Results for all three groups indicated a high level of satisfaction with the integrated model. Generalization to other practice groups in this study was a limitation. Another limitation was that the survey data may sometimes be skewed in that respondents may wish to be seen in a positive way and may be reluctant to give negative answers.

A comprehensive review of more than sixty case studies was compiled by Blount (2003). In his review, the author reported that overall positive outcomes resulted from integrated care. The review portrays positive outcomes in: treatment effectiveness, satisfaction among patients, physicians, and behavioral health clinicians, and cost effectiveness. Blount (2003) states that the location and the service provided should be specified in order to adequately assess the outcomes. The distinction among coordinated, co-located, and integrated services assists in a clear understanding of the processes.

Blount (2003) further clarifies the differences between targeted and non-targeted services to provide the reader with insight into the populations served. The author also defines

The author reminds the reader that the information as a whole is confusing and the literature can be cumbersome.

A systematic analysis of the literature related to better practices in collaborative mental health care in primary care was conducted by Craven & Bland (2006). The study revealed that there is a body of literature emerging on collaborative practice. Clinical implications included: collaboration is most successful when built on existing clinical relationships, enhanced collaboration should be paired with disorder-specific treatment guidelines, and skill transfer in collaborative relationships requires service restructuring in support of behavioral change (Craven & Bland, 2006). The authors admit that because the numbers of studies are small and there is variation in the study methodologies, the analysis is limited.

This literature review discussed integrated primary care and the historical antecedents offered by George Engel. Existing research reviewed for this paper included two randomized controlled studies, two survey studies, a comprehensive literature review, and a systematic analysis. Although randomized control studies offer the highest level of evidence, both authors admitted flaws in the research that may have positively affected the outcome. The survey studies, which are considered less reliable, also supported the effectiveness of integrated care. The comprehensive review is also supportive of integrated care; details different aspects of care; and addresses location of services, populations served, and clinical effectiveness. The systematic analysis documents the emerging evidence for collaboration with positive clinical implications and supports higher levels of evidence.

Focused research into the area of integrated care is warranted. With a better understanding of the relationships among providers and service to populations and specificity of services provided, this research will be made possible.

#### **Program Objectives**

The main program objective is the evaluation of the expansion of behavioral health services in a rural primary care clinic. The measurement of this expansion is the implementation of this program with written polices in place and clinicians hired. The total time for the program expansion is estimated to be four months based on the ability to hire part time contractual clinicians who are willing to work on a percentage of fees for service basis.

The first objective involves writing policies and procedures for the program. This task is estimated to take approximately six weeks. This will entail formulating and organizing the integrated primary care policies with already existing clinic polices.

Included in this is the exploration of human resource information for the purpose of hiring a mental health clinician. This would also include: insurance paneling, credentialing, and development of contractual information to be presented to the new hires. Additionally, space would be identified and remodeling would begin to accommodate the new providers. The evaluation would include the completed policies and patient admission packet, a plan for contractual services, and finished work space.

The second objective is estimated to take six weeks. This would include: advertising, interviewing, and hiring one or two clinicians for the positions at the site. Again, the time lag may be a result of identifying clinicians who would agree to work

under a contractual work assignment. Once hired, the clinicians will be oriented and assigned to a schedule. The amount of time worked will be based on the demand for services. New services will be explored. For example, a chronic care group may be added to the schedule of brief intervention visits. Onsite consultations in the clinic with the residents will be available one half day per week. Evaluation of this phase would include: clinicians hired with signed contracts, completed orientation, and assignment of offices with full schedules. Onsite consultations will begin within the same time period and will reflect advancement towards diversifying services within the program.

The third and final objective, certification and credentialing, is a longer term goal. The certification process for the project manager has been discussed and some funds were allocated. However, budget reductions within the clinic system have compromised the ability to complete this objective as initially scheduled. Therefore, this objective will not be included in the evaluation process

#### Marketing Plan

The key stake holders in the project expansion are Dr. C. Mitch Jacques, Dean, West Virginia University, Eastern Division, Dr. K.C. Nau, Program Chair of Family Medicine, West Virginia University, Eastern Division and Aaron Henry, MBA, Administrator, Harpers Ferry Family Medicine, faculty providers, residents, support staff, and patients. A stake holder is a person or group having an interest in the success of an enterprise, business or movement (Morehead, 2006). Each stake holder has a different interest but is an important link in the process. For instance, Dr. Jacques, Dr. Nau and Mr. Henry are not only concerned with quality patient care, but also the financial feasibility,

cost /benefit, and sustainability of the project. The faculty providers and residents are concerned with quality care but also with an expeditious referral process. The support staff members are interested in having more available appointments in which to schedule the patients, and the patients want quality, an expeditious service that is conveniently located within the primary care office setting.

A SWOT analysis is a facet of a marketing strategy and an essential part of strategic planning. A SWOT analysis is a process used in projects or business that can facilitate discussions on the strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats to the organizational processes (McClouskey & Cusick, 2001). The SWOT analysis provides a roadmap to the organization. The SWOT analysis for this proposed project is described in the following paragraph.

Strengths are identified as internal attributes that are helpful in achieving the objectives (Hazelbaker & Hall, 2006). In the proposed project, these include: administrative support, history of providing primary care behavioral health service, experienced project manager, and creative budgeting. Weaknesses in an organization are defined as those internal conditions that are harmful to achieving the objective of the organization (Hazelbaker & Hall, 2006). Identified weaknesses in the system that could impact the proposed project are: the lack of acceptance of other mental health providers' services due to unfamiliarity with providers other than the Advanced Practice Nurse by the staff, credentialing and billing issues, improper scheduling, and inappropriate referrals. Opportunities are external conditions that are useful in achieving the objective of the organization (Hazelbaker & Hall, 2006). Such opportunities include: increased demand for service, increasing patient population at Harpers Ferry Family Medicine and

that are harmful to achieving the objectives of the organization (Hazelbaker & Hall, 2006). Threats considered in this proposal include: inability to hire clinicians due to part time status and billing/reimbursement issues, which would impact the financial feasibility of the program. Understanding these conditions will provide for better management of the project.

#### Project Design

This project is an evaluation of the impact of expansion of behavioral health services in a primary care setting. This project will involve a descriptive, longitudinal design to evaluate the expansion of services and stake holder satisfaction with the project. Surveys specifically designed to gather the information will be used. According to Polit & Beck (2008), "a survey is designed to obtain information about the prevalence, distribution, and interrelations of variables with a population" (p.323). A survey is a systematic, standardized way to collect data. Surveys are uniform in that the same questions are posed to all respondents. In a survey, family physicians, psychiatrists and mental health counselors working in primary care were polled on their satisfaction with a collaborative care model vs. usual care. High levels of satisfaction were recorded with family physicians expressing increased comfort in handling mental health problems and were satisfied with the benefits to their patients (Farrar, Kates, Crustolo, & Niklaoul, 2001).

The survey instruments that will be used are modeled after examples that have been offered in a toolkit for primary care behavioral health integration services and

available for replication (Canadian Collaborative Mental Health Initiative, 2006). Not intended for research, validity and reliability have not been established for these instruments. Measurement on a Likert scale with 1 = high and 7 = low, will address issues of concern that present the most difficulty for faculty, providers, and staff. These concerns will include: accessibly, communication, and satisfaction.

To gather information about satisfaction with the expansion of services in this rural primary care clinic, written surveys will be distributed to the faculty and support staff in this project prior to the expansion and six weeks after the expansion to the faculty and support staff in this project. These surveys will be distributed to stake holders at the same point in time; thus gathering information from a cross section of stake holders (Melnyk & Fineout-Overhold, 2005). Written surveys will be distributed to the faculty providers, who are primary care providers, during a faculty meeting (Appendix F). The surveys will be distributed by the program manager. Responses will remain anonymous and placed in a collection box in the program manager's office after the meeting. Surveys allow for quick responses and have minimal costs. The distribution of the surveys by the project manager will reinforce the importance of the surveys to the development of the new service.

Follow up surveys will be administered to patients after they have participated in the proposed service (Appendix H). Another written survey will be administered to the support and triage staff (Appendix G). It is their job to field calls from potential patients requesting appointments. In addition, the triage staff must deal with patients who request emergency visits when there are no mental health appointments available. Because of their direct communications with patients, these staff members are important stake

holders. A way to best instruct the support and triage staff and obtain evaluation information from them would be to have a noon meeting and provide lunch. This would assure that respondents are educated on the survey and reinforce the program goals.

These surveys would be administered within a one week window of the faculty surveys so that the process would be completed by November 29, 2008.

All data collected before program implementation will be discussed with the faculty and staff within the next month as the plans for the program unfolds. The approximate time line would be December 22, 2008. Questions will be answered at both the faculty meeting and a support staff meeting regarding the results and the proposed program. Timelines for phase one as previously described will be six weeks. Therefore, program construction and policy will be underway from November 22, 2008 until January 6, 2008.

The post implementation survey will be administered approximately six weeks after the inception of the expansion services being provided to patients. These surveys will be distributed to both faculty and support staff. Evaluative information will be shared with the survey participants in a timely manner using the previous meeting sites.

The goal of the survey is to evaluate the providers' needs for expanded services and measure their current satisfaction with the current service within the clinic. The survey will serve as a pretest within the project. These surveys will be distributed and collected at the November faculty meeting.

#### Resources

Resources needed for this project are minimal. Policies and procedures will be gathered from integration resources and merged with existing University Health Associates policies. These policies will address clinic specific issues mentioned previously such as no show and late cancellations policies. All the resources needed for this phase of the project are in place and included in budget operations, such as binders, paper, and technical support.

Personnel requirements will involve meeting time with the administrator to discuss: contractual information, percentage of fees collected, patient no show rates, and late cancellations policies. These are issues that have challenged the program but have been overlooked. It is unacceptable to have these programmatic problems when clinicians are paid only for patients that they have seen. Brief meetings times will be also needed with billing staff, human resource, and clerical support staff. Because the service is already operational, these meetings dealing with the new program would require no extra time or cost because regular meetings with these personnel are routinely scheduled.

#### Equipment

Technology, space and furniture are items that must be purchased for the new clinicians. A computer and furniture for the newly hired clinician's office has been estimated in the budget. Shared space will be available in the facility for additional clinicians as the clinic expansion is completed. Minimal renovation will be required for the space.

#### Budget and financial plan

The gross revenue projected for the project is based on two staff clinicians. To ensure an adequate patient flow, clinician hours will be phased in over the course of twelve weeks. During the initial four weeks, one clinician will work one day or eight hours a week increasing in week five to sixteen hours per week. Beginning in week nine, a second clinician will be added for an additional eight hours of services for a total of twenty-hour hours per week. In week twelve and forward, the two clinicians will provide a total of thirty-two hours of service per week. The budget is based on the clinicians each working forty-eight weeks with the assumption that each clinician will take the equivalent of four weeks of vacation a year. Because patients will miss appointments for a variety of reasons and the staff will not be productive during these sessions, the revenue has been reduced by 12%. This would include patient "no shows". Since most patients will have some third party insurance coverage, the gross revenue has been reduced to an estimated average insurance payment of \$83 per session based on current collectables. The resulting net patient revenue is the total operating revenue for the program since there will be no other sources of income.

The largest operating expense is the monies paid to the contract clinicians who will be providing the counseling services. Clinicians will be paid 60% of patient revenue for fees collected. Other significant expenses include a standard 10% surcharge on collections for University Health Associates (UHA) support operations and the standard 10% surcharge on collections for Dean's Support. The Dean has waived the Dean's surcharge for the first six months to ease the cash flow deficit during this period. Other expenses include a 7% charge on projected receivables to cover clerical costs and the

estimated actual costs for rent and utilities. Five hundred dollars is budgeted for miscellaneous expenses and this line item provides some cushion for unexpected expenses. Built into the expense budget are the 0.6% West Virginia provider tax and an estimated bad debt expense of 5%. Bad debt expense covers the loss of revenue when patient revenue is not collected such as when prior authorization for services is not obtained or co-pays are not collected. It should be noted that most of these expenses (clinician payments, UHA and Dean's surcharges, clerical costs, provider tax, and bad debt expense) vary with the operating revenue. Thus, if the program fails to meet its revenue targets, these expenses will proportionally decrease. In the same way, these expenses will increase if the program exceeds its revenue projections.

Start up expenses include additional furniture and a computer for the clinicians with an estimated total cost of \$2000.00. There is also staff recruitment expenses estimated at \$500.00. Included in this estimate are advertising fees for two local papers at approximately \$250.00. An additional cost of \$150.00 is estimated for lunch and travel during the recruitment process. Another \$50.00 is budgeted for supplies needed for recruitment such as folders, binders, and paper. Payment for staff orientation will be drawn from miscellaneous costs since the clinicians are paid on a fee for service basis. Therefore, it will be important to have a precise schedule on orientation day, which would include mandatory in services, paperwork, and medical issues such as TB testing. The first year's annual budget projects \$98,165 in operating revenue with \$91,693 in expenses for a projected gain of \$6,472. However from a cash flow perspective the program will have a loss of \$1093 during the first six months due to the lag in insurance payments for services (see cash budget). At the end of the first year, cash flow is

projected to be a positive \$1,175. In year two, the projected gain is \$5,907 on revenues of \$112,189. If only the start up expenses are considered, the return on investment (Gain from Investment – Cost of Investment divided by the Costs of the Investment) would be positive (6,472 - 2500)/2500) = 1.59). However, this does not consider the existing resources such as office space, which could be allocated to alternative projects (Appendix D).

#### Key site support

In discussions with K.C. Nau, MD, Program Director of Family Medicine and Vice Dean of the Eastern Division, and Aaron Henry, MBA, Administrator of Harpers Ferry Family Medicine and Vice President of Finance of the Eastern Division, verbal support for this project has been ongoing. This is based on the Program Director's ongoing support of mental health services in the clinic and the commitment to provide primary care/ behavioral health integration. The creative percentage of fees collected contractual agreement with the clinicians also provides a risk free financial opportunity for the clinic.

Clinic faculty and support staff is also eager for a structured program and for more behavioral health staff to provide services. Because there has been exponential growth in the clinic population and more primary care providers, the need is clear. A letter of support for the project has been given by Mitch Jacques, MD, Dean of West Virginia University's Eastern Division (Appendix E).

#### **Evaluation Plan**

Evaluation of the program would be completed based on the objectives previously discussed in this paper. The first objective is program construction and policy. Several measurements will be used. In order to measure satisfaction with the service by the faculty and staff, surveys will be administered by the project manager (Appendices G, H). One survey will be completed prior to the hiring of new clinicians and the start up of new structured program. The follow-up survey will be administered six weeks after the clinicians start. Additionally, satisfaction surveys given to patients will be distributed as they experience the new program (Appendix H). Independent *t* tests will be used for statistical analysis (Melynk & Fineout-Overhold, 2005). Other evaluative mechanisms of this objective will be the completion of the policies and a patient admission packet. Policies will address the internal and external referral process, late cancellations and no show, and safety and reporting circumstances related to: harm, safety contracts, emergency resources, and dismissal from the practice due to nonattendance or noncompliance with treatment.

Objective two addresses the clinician and performance. Evaluative measures that will be reviewed will be the amount of time dedicated to patient treatment booked on the providers' schedules and achievement of productivity standards. These measures are now being maintained in the new EPIC system and are easily retrievable for review. These benchmarks will be set by the clinic. In general, a clinician should have a less than 12 % patient no show rate and maintain a 90% booked schedule. A chart review process monitoring aspects of the behavioral health intervention will also be put into place with appropriate feedback to clinicians. This is a new process for the clinic and standards will

be set based on CARF accreditation standards. Currently, this evaluative process is measured for the APRN by family practice standards. However, since the new clinicians will only provide mental health services, the format and indicators will change. Some quality indicators may include: elements of the evaluation, diagnostic criteria, and the completeness of the chart. Built into the evaluation processes will be frequent and timely feedback to administration and new clinicians. This will be done through monthly reports. In the past, these reports were difficult to access and often inaccurate. The new system wide computer system provides easy access. Frequent communication during the start up phase is essential for the viability of the program and in assisting the new clinicians in adapting and understanding the new environment.

The final objective, certification, will be delayed indefinably due to a budget shortfall and fiscal constraints. The initial plan was that there would be two measurements. The first completed measurement was certification of the project manager. The completed certification course would be conducted through the University of Massachusetts, Department of Family Medicine and Community Health Certificate Program. This is a 36 hour didactic and interactive training course conducted in six, full day workshops given one Friday a month for six months. The completion of the program by the project manager will be measurable as will the request for the program certification packet from CARF.

#### Evaluation

The program evaluation was based on the specific objectives outlined in the proposal. The aim of the first objective was to provide structure to the integrated primary

care behavioral health program through policies and procedures specific to the service. These policies, which are contained in forms that patients sign at registration, provide both patients and staff with guidelines for the management of unique situations that are related to integrated services such as disclosure, informed consent and safety. The policies were written for patients seen only in the Harpers Ferry Family Medicine integrated primary care behavioral health program and associated clinics where such services may be delivered. Specifically, the policies included counseling policies, privacy policies, informed consent for medication treatment, informed consent for release of information, patient intake form – self information sheet, and telephone appointment reminder consent (Appendices I, J, K, L, M, N).

Prior to submission for approval, the policies were researched from a variety of sources including other practices and WVUH/Chestnut Ridge Hospital outpatient services. Standard forms from behavioral health manuals were also considered (Wiger, 1999; Zuckerman, 2003). Additionally, polices and practices informally used in the program were formalized. For instance, the counseling polices discussed with patients on their first visit by the clinician were now in a written format allowing for clarity between patient and provider.

The target date for the completion and approval of the policies was November, 2008. Approval did not occur until approximately March, 2009. There was a significant delay particularly relevant to the no show policy because, while this was a policy approved for Chestnut Ridge Hospital outpatient service, it had never been approved for a primary care site. All policies were finally approved by corporate compliance but have

yet to be implemented due to university and system wide priorities that were superseded by the implementation of, and transition to, the new computer system.

Another aim addressed in objective one was the initiation of human resource activities which would prepare for the hiring of the clinician as proposed in the expansion. The objective specified that activities such as paneling and credentialing for insurance purposes, and establishing a contractual fee for a service pay scale would be completed as an evaluative measure. The debate and confusion over the status of clinician's position resulted in extraordinary delays and a significant change in the evaluation process. The inability to hire a contractual employee for the position voided the evaluative processes which had been proposed. Since the clinician would be hired as a part time salaried employee who would not bill for services, no contractual fee schedule, or insurance paneling and credentialing activities were necessary.

The final measure of objective one was the allocation of completed space in which the clinician could see patients. It had been estimated that space would be identified and modified to meet the needs of a behavioral health clinician seeing patients. However, due to faculty and full time staff changes, there was no space available at Harpers Ferry Family Medicine. Space was assigned at a satellite women's health clinic associated with the main clinic which is part of the clinic system. The total time estimated for this objective to be completed was six weeks. However, the space allocation took four months to complete.

The evaluation process based on objective two was even more complex and addressed the hiring of the clinician. The position of mental health clinician was advertised in the local newspaper and drew only a few applicants (Appendices O, P). A

master's prepared social worker (MSW) working on licensure as a Licensed Independent Clinical Social Worker (LICSW) responded to the ad (Appendix, Q). The clinician was hired for six hours per week for twelve weeks. The clinician was paid \$32.50 per hour which included FICA tax @ 7.65%. The clinician worked only eleven weeks because of a personal situation that caused an absence for one week. The total salary for the eleven week period was \$2,145.00. During the eleven weeks, the clinician was in the clinic for six hours per day. There were a total of sixty counseling appointments available with six hours of unproductive time being used for orientation, computer based learning, and a didactic presentation to the resident staff. Of the sixty available appointments, forty three [72%] appointments were booked. This is a lesser percentage than was projected in the initial proposal at which time 90% booked appointments was projected. However, this decrease in booked appointments could be attributed to the change in venue for the clinician and lack of shared office space at the main clinic office. Additionally, of the forty three appointments booked, six patients (7%) did not come for their appointment, and seven patients cancelled appointments. Based on an estimated rate of \$83.00 per visit for thirty completed visits, the clinician could have earned \$2490, slightly above salary. These calculations did not consider what level of payments that payors would approve. However, the computations suggest that a behavioral health clinician could be self supporting.

Pre and post implementation surveys completed by providers, staff, and patients were collected and analyzed as discussed in objective two. The surveys for the providers and staff groups contained five questions and were measured on a seven point Likert scale. The scale weight was 1 = high to 7= low. The analysis of faculty and staff

responses included perceptions of accessibility of services prior to and after the interventions (Appendices F, G). The surveys for the patient group contained eight questions and were measured on a five point Likert scale. The weight of the scale was 1 = high to 5 = low. Patient responses included perceptions of satisfaction pre and post implementation (Appendix H). Prior to data analysis, the level of significance was set at p <0.05. Independent t- tests were conducted with each group. When no statistically significant differences were found using this statistic, a Cohen's d test was used. While statistical significance is certainly important, it is not necessarily the most important consideration in evaluation research. Effect size is a simple way of quantifying the size of the difference between two groups (Ender, 2003). The difference between the each group was measured by the pre and post tests. Effect size has a particular value in quantifying the effectiveness of a particular intervention which in this project was the clinician (Coe, 2002). Cohen's d evaluates the effect size when comparing two group means, computed by subtracting one mean from the other and dividing by the pooled standard deviation called the standardized mean difference (Polit & Beck, 2008, p.749). Effect size is important to establish when a study has limited statistical power (Becker, 2000).

Analyses of accessibility by t test in the provider group resulted in p = .466, which was not statistically significant. A Cohen's d, measuring the mean difference in accessibility resulted in d = .30. According to Polit and Beck (2008), when no prior research exists, researchers may estimate the effect size or the magnitude of the effect which can be small, medium, or large (p. 604). A d of .30 is a small effect. Analyses of communication by t test in the provider group resulted in t = .356, which was also not statistically significant. However, the effect size as measured by a Cohen's t resulted in t

=.41. This also indicated a small effect. Although indicating only a small effect size, both tests revealed a positive change. Although not statistically significant as indicated in Table 1, the changes indicate an improvement in the perceptions of the providers. These improvements indicated that providers' perceptions about both accessibility and communication were improved between the pre and post test and indicated that the intervention was effective.

Table 1. Provider Groups

Question	Pretest	Posttest
	Mean (sd)	Mean (sd)
1. Access to treatment	4.35 (1.63)	3.27 (2.04)
2. Access to emergency mental	5.07 (1.70)	4.5 (2.27)
health care		
3. Timely communication	3.57 (1.72)	2.81 (1.84)
w/MH providers		
4. Status updates on mental	4.42 (1.84)	3.36 (2.32)
health referrals		
5. Opportunities for case	3.21 (1.81)	3.09 (1.62)
discussions mental health		
providers		

Patients' responses revealed little change with a p = .101. A ceiling effect, or cluster of high scores, was noted with this group. This means that the measurement cannot take on a value higher than some limit or ceiling which is imposed by the phenomenon being measured (SMARTPsych, 2009). As a result there is a lack of variability. In the patient surveys, the scores were rated at the high end of the scale. This lack of variance impaired the investigator's ability to measure the true means.

Table 2. Patient Groups

Question	Pretest	Posttest Mean
	Mean (sd)	Mean (sd)
1. How long did you wait for appt	1.45 (1.07)	1.0 (0)
2. How much have you been helped	1.45 (0.65)	1.11 (0.31)
with mental health problem?		
3. Knowledge, competence of provider	1.09 (0.28)	1.11 (0.31)
4. Courtesy, respect, of provider	1.09 (0.28)	1.11 (0.31)
5. Visit overall	1.0 ( 0.42)	1.11 ( 0.31)
6. Amount of wait time for 1 <sup>st</sup> appt	1.81 (1.11)	1.0 ( 0)
7. Seeing a counselor in your Dr's	1.09 ( 0.28)	1.33 (0.99)
office?		
8. Mental health treatment overall?	1.27 (0.44)	1.11 (0.33)

Staff perception of accessibility of the services resulted in p=.109, which was not statistically significant. A Cohen's d, measuring the mean difference resulted, d=.71 indicating a modest effect size and improvement in the findings. Staff perception of communication from pretest to posttest declined, p=.124. This value was nonsignificant. A Cohen d test resulted in d=.70 also indicating a modest effect size. While staff perception of accessibility of services did improve, staff perception of communication about the service did decline. The fact that this occurred is not surprising based on the confusion related to the clinician's availability and assigned site. Staff, unsure of the clinician's work hours and duty station, found it necessary to make frequent calls to the satellite office to verify these issues. Additionally the referral process, once hoped to be conducted with ease, became cumbersome for the staff. It became a multistep process involving several staff personal at two different offices. Unfortunately, as with the total process, by the end of the twelve week period, the staff understood the flow, but the pilot test for the service was then over.

Table 3. Staff Groups

Question	Pretest	Posttest
	Mean (sd)	Mean (sd)
1. Access to MH appts for adults in practice	5.2 (0.4)	4.0 (2.0)
2. Access to emergency MH for adults in the	6.4 ( 0.8)	5.18 ( 1.69)
practice		
3. Access to MH appts for adults in community	5.7 ( 1.1)	4.90 (2.15)
4. Positive comments about counseling in	1.4 ( 0.8)	2.72 (1.48)
practice		
5. Difficulty dealing with patients who are	3.2 (1.6)	3.45 ( 1.55)
diagnosed w/ MH problems		

Additional qualitative data was gathered and revealed positive comments about the intervention. One provider wrote:

ML called twice to discuss concerns she had regarding my patient. I appreciated this and it made me feel like I was better able to care for my patient because of it. Also it was very nice that the patients I referred for behavioral health were seen in a more timely manner during the time when ML was here. A lot of patients don't come in until they are in crisis or almost in crisis. It is often very frustrating when we have to tell them they have to wait six weeks when they need the care today.

The third and final objective dealt with the completion of certification of both clinicians and the integrated program. While this was and is a lofty goal, the previously discussed financial that barriers exist prohibit either process from occurring at this time that have been elucidated in this paper.

### Discussion

### **Proposal Modifications**

The pilot program, the Evaluation of the Expansion of Behavioral Heath Series in a Primary Care Clinic, was launched in a very different format than was originally proposed. The final capstone project submitted in December 2008 was scheduled to be completed by April 2009. However, the timeline was not achieved because there were

many barriers and obstacles that were introduced. The project was significantly delayed and the program was greatly modified due to budgetary constraints, a hiring freeze, and space limitations. Clinical, philosophical, financial and organizational barriers continue to hamper integration as described in the literature (Gunn & Blount, 2009; Robinson & Strosahl, 2009).

The first objective of the proposal was to formalize the program structure. Policies and documents which were previously lacking were written. These policies included: privacy policies, informed consents for treatment and medications, patient self information forms, counseling policies, and adult assessment forms. Although the forms were accepted and approved by the university compliance office, implementation never occurred (Appendices I, J, K, L M, N). Unfortunately, the planned implementation coincided with the clinic's transition to Merlin, the electronic medical record system within the university. The technical change process was a significant burden for the support staff and, in particular, the front desk staff that are responsible for obtaining patient signatures for consent. Adding new forms to an already cumbersome process would significantly slow the registration process and could cause confusion among staff and patients. While seemingly essential documents to the primary care behavioral health program, the forms represent another difference in the two treatment cultures. It is hoped that in the future, when there is a better understanding of the capabilities of the new electronic system, that these forms may be merged into the system, preloaded in the electronic medical record system, and available to patients upon registration in a more expeditious fashion.

It is also important to note that the approval process for the forms was not without controversy. The concept of charging a patient for a missed visit, late cancellation, and for a no show, is not consistent with the university system. This practice, although common in behavioral health practice, is not usual and customary in primary care. This is a clear demonstration of differences in treatment philosophies that exist between behavioral health and primary care (Gunn & Blount, 2009). While a missed visit can be a treatment issue in behavioral health, there is not the same significance in a primary care visit. The additional dilemma of not charging a patient for missed services, then adds a financial burden for the behavioral health provider who is expected to be clinically and financially productive. This is an example of the financial disincentives that face integrated programs (Cummings, O'Donohue, & Cummings, 2009; Robinson & Strosahl, 2009).

The second objective of the project identified hiring the clinical staff member whose services would act as the intervention for the expansion process. Reimbursement for the clinician was to be structured on a fee for service basis. This approach to reimbursement would minimize any financial risk for the clinic. This model presupposes that a certified mental health clinician would be reimbursed based on a behavioral health fee schedule. The prerequisite paneling and credentialing required by the organization would facilitate the process of billing and reimbursement. A major obstacle, which prevented this from happening, was the fact that no nonphysician clinician had ever been hired in this manner. Although the capstone project was approved by the administrators at the clinic, the fact that the university corporate affiliate would only hire physicians on a contractual basis emerged at the point of project implementation. This fact was identified

after approval of the capstone proposal, and was unknown to the Eastern Division administration. This change affected every facet of the program especially the financial aspects. The proposed budget and financial projections were essentially useless because the foundation for the proposal was based on the contractual payment agreement between the corporation, clinic and the clinician. That is, the sustainability of the position would be based on revenues generated and productivity standards that would be set. The clinician would earn a salary based on fees collected from patient visits. However, the clinician was hired as a provider who worked on a temporary, part time basis without billing for the provision of services. Paneling and credentialing by insurance companies was not necessary. There were also no productivity standards set. A masters' prepared social worker who was preparing for advanced licensure expressed interest in the position even though it was temporary (Appendix Q). This occurred because the clinician wished to experience working in an integrated system. The fact that such a qualified clinician was interested in a short term, timed limited position was very fortuitous. The administrator was able to designate monies from the budget to fund the position on a temporary basis in spite of the current hiring freeze. The clinic hiring freeze was imposed after the proposal was accepted as a pilot program.

A positive outcome from this change was that the clinician was not bound by the fiscal rules of behavioral health care. That is, there were no limitations on visits and no precertification necessary for visits necessary. Patients who had no behavioral health insurance benefits could be seen without regard to insurance issues. This allowed patients to be seen emergently and in a less traditional format. For instance, in the current primary care behavioral health structure, patient cannot be seen on the same day by both the

primary care provider and the behavioral health clinician. Rules such as this, mandated by payors, hamper the provision of care. The change in the pilot project permitted the clinician to function in the role of behavioral health consultant as described by Robinson & Reiter, (2007; Pomerantz, Coson, & Detzer, 2009; Robinson & Strosahl, 2009). While this behavioral health consultant role is discussed in the literature and promoted, it is often not possible because of financial disincentives. Ideally, the behavioral health consultant in this role employs brief solution focused counseling in a one to four visits to facilitate health rather than psychotherapy to ameliorate symptoms (Robinson & Reiter, 2007; Walker & Collins, 2009). Byran, Morrow, and Appolino (2009) believe that brief psychological interventions can be the most effective intervention in an integrated setting (Appendix R).

Another pitfall was the lack of space at the main primary care site. This organizational barrier is a very practical one and understandable. The inability to make room for behavioral health services highlights the culture differences since primary care services do seem to be more highly valued than the process oriented behavioral health interventions (Gunn & Blount, 2009). One might speculate that this is the diminishing of behavioral health services and a continuation of the dichotomous practice patterns representing a mind body split (Lipsitt, 1997). An example of the cultural differences between primary care and behavioral health is office arrangement. The office setting for the primary care provider is an exam room while the usual office setting for the behavioral health provider can look like a living room (Maine Health, 2009).

At Harpers Ferry Family Medicine, expansion of the residency program and the addition of several new faculty providers left little room for another behavioral health

provider to see patients. Therefore, the clinician was assigned to a satellite clinic within the system. This reassignment was another factor that greatly impacted the outcome of the pilot project and project evaluation. As a result, with the clinician not being in plain view, staff and faculty had to be reminded of her availability. This factor did hamper the referral process. However, faculty providers who regularly worked at the satellite clinic used the service and were pleased with the clinician's availability. Patients who completed the satisfaction questionnaire expressed satisfaction with the service, but also often expressed disappointment because the clinician would be available for such a brief period.

Colocation and dropout are important topics discussed in the literature (Blount, 2003; Robinson & Reiter, 2007). Colocation is common vernacular in integrated settings and implies that both behavioral health and medical providers are located in the same offices and share resources (Blount, 2003). This was demonstrated in the pilot project when patients who were referred from the main clinic to the satellite office did not follow through for appointments (Appendix S). Not all the patients who were referred for services were seen. Blount (2003) reports that colocation is an important factor in the success of integration. Craven & Bland (2006) identify that collaborative practice is most effective when there is colocation. Gunn & Blount (2009) remind readers that colocation is desired but not the norm.

While dropout may be attributed to lack of colocation, patient barriers should not be overlooked. During the primary care visit, patients will often agree to see the behavioral health provider for several reasons (Lacy, Paul, Reuter, & Lovejoy, 2004).

One reason is because patients are truly in psychological distress. Another reason may be

that patients want to please their doctor. Time and distance between appointments, a patient's own denial of the behavioral health problem, and stigma that accompanies mental illness are variables that put the patient at risk for dropout (Goldman, Brody, & Wise, 1998; Mitchell & Selmes, 2007).

The final phase of the project, which proposed certification for the clinicians and program, was indefinitely postponed because of finances. The cost / benefit ratio to complete these certifications was not seen as feasible. Any clinician who wishes to do this certification may incur the cost independently without reimbursement from the clinic. While this financial barrier is understandable in the wake of the economic environment, the process of primary care behavioral health integration can move forward only with trained clinicians who understand the operation of a model which is different from pure behavioral health (Robinson & Reiter, 2007; Zoberi, Niemiec, & Margolis, 2008). Gunn & Blount (2009) strongly support the need to increase the knowledge base and skills for those working in the specialized field of primary care mental health because this field is so distinct from specialty care. In a recent report by Robinson and Strosahl (2009) training of both primary care providers as well as behavioral health consultants is deemed necessary in order to truly grasp and implement integration. Blount & Miller (2009) caution that without properly trained behavioral health clinicians integrated programs could fail. Certification of the primary care behavioral health program, similar to Joint Commission Accreditation, and of the clinician by a certification program would bring a great deal of credibility to the clinic. Certification often is equated with expert knowledge by both consumer and health care provider.

#### Study Limitations

There were several limitations to the study. A major limitation was the lack of survey participants to study the true impact of the pilot project. That is, the number was small which often leads to nonstatistically interpretable results. Polit and Sherman (1990), however, report that nonstatistical findings are a common occurrence in both published and unpublished nursing research. Lack of statistical power can lead to mistakes and inconsistent results reflecting Type II errors (Pilot & Beck, 2008, p. 602). Power refers to the probability that a test will be statistically significant when such a difference actually exists, rejecting the null hypothesis (Zint & Montgomery, 2008). When the sample size increases, so does the statistical power of the test`. However, when a difference between groups is found, but does not actually exist, errors do occur (Zint & Montgomery, 2008).

Another significant limitation of the study was the flawed design, in that study participants were not matched at pre and post test on the surveys. Therefore, paired *t* tests were not completed. One reason for unmatched groups was the fact that clinic staff who instructed patients on how to do the survey, changed during the pre and post survey. That is, patients did not always receive a survey either prior to or after implementation of the pilot project in spite of an educational session and reminders to staff. The fact that staff at two different sites were dealing with a new behavioral health clinician at a different location may be a reason for the negative results in the post test analysis of staff, as the process became cumbersome. Clearly, communication about the clinician's availability and how to make a referral became challenging.

A short time line added to the limitations and the pilot project may have been more successful given a longer period for implementation. The confusion about the availability of the clinician at another site may have been eased over time. Patient referrals may also have increased as staff and providers became more familiar with the new process. In part, the short time line was due to budgetary constraints. There was a small time period when the clinician could be hired and paid a salary. The clinic administrator was able to dedicate funds from an unfilled staff position in order to fund the clinician's part time position. This position would end in the new fiscal year. Acting as a "champion" as identified by Walker & Collins (2009), the clinic administrator understood the value of the pilot project, sought to decrease the barriers encountered, and was cognizant of the benefit that integration brings to the patients in the clinic.

Another limitation which hampered the study was confusion about the survey questions, which lacked clarity, validity and reliability. Some of the questions were vague and did not specifically address accessibility and communication. One example is that one provider on a post implementation survey gave a low score to the communication question but noted that the clinic mental health clinician was the exception. It was noted that there was good communication between the provider and the behavioral health clinician in the clinic but that communication with community behavioral health providers was lacking.

### **Application of Theoretical Framework**

The proposed practice change demonstrated by the pilot program was guided by Lewin's Three Step Change Theory. In this theory, Lewin, believed an issue is held in

balance by the interaction of two opposing sets of forces (Lewin, 1951). Forces seeking to change the system were labeled as driving forces, and those against the change, restraining forces (McEwen & Willis, 2007). Lewin believed that organizations are systems in which the present situation is not a static pattern but a dynamic balance of forces working in opposition (Lewin, 1951). In order for change to occur, the driving force must exceed the restraining force. This component of Lewin's theory is called force field analysis (Hershey, Blanchard, & Johnson, 1996).

Three key concepts have been identified in Lewin's theories that make planned change occur: unfreezing the status quo, moving to a new state, and refreezing the change to make it permanent (Hershey, Blanchard, & Johnson). In the unfreezing stage of this project, the problem identified was the lack of sufficient behavioral health services to meet the needs of the clinic population. The need for change was communicated to clinic management, staff and providers. A proposal was submitted that defined the proposed change. Discomfort arose from the unknown, among the administrators of the clinic and Eastern Division of West Virginia University particularly regarding the revenue generating potential of a newly hired clinician. A major obstacle occurred when it was discovered that, due to fiscal constraints in the clinic, the clinician would have to be employed rather than have contractual status.

For planned change to successfully occur, it is important to unlock the status quo (Kassean & Jagoo, 2005). The unfreezing phase which was planned in the initial project proposal was not followed because of the change in the hiring status of the clinician.

The moving or change phase occurred when the clinician was hired and began providing services. Referrals were appropriately directed to the clinician. An evaluation

of the services occurred at twelve weeks after the inception of the expansion. Surveys were given to patients regarding the availability of services and their satisfaction with the services (Appendix H). Line and support staffs were encouraged to give feedback regarding the different aspects of the program.

Hypothetically, in the refreezing phase of the capstone project, final change will be recognized. Unfortunately, because the clinician position was a temporary, part time position, services were provided for only twelve weeks and the expansion was not sustainable. Change in any system is challenging. The integration of behavioral health into primary care, which is a major change in the way that health care is delivered, is a challenging task. One might imagine the metaphor in this change process as primary care as the restraining force and behavioral health as the driving force, with the end result being an expanded integrated program.

#### Recommendations

This pilot study, which aimed to expand already existing behavioral health services in a primary care clinic, supports the literature on this topic and holds promise for future expansion of services. Mistakes were made and lessons were learned. The problems that arose will assist in the design of a more efficient and profitable expansion of behavioral health services in the future with a particular focus on financial issues. An opportunity to experience expanded behavioral health consultation services was presented, and permitted a comparison of current practice to an expanded model.

The comparison of the current practice and the updated model reminded the author that an integrated primary care behavioral health service has existed at Harpers

Ferry Family Medicine for ten years. Although lacking high levels of integration, there was great vision, intent, commitment and determination by providers and administration to make the program successful (Doherty, McDaniel, & Baird, 1996). A major strength has been high levels of collaboration built on existing trusting relationships (Craven & Bland, 2006). In 1999, the concept of integration was cutting edge in West Virginia. The program has served many patients and was structured on a traditional behavioral health model because that is all that was known at the time. It was designed without toolkits, manuals, textbooks and evidence based practice guidelines. However, through knowledge and experience gained in the past ten years there have been continued efforts to refine the way interventions are conducted with patients. Additionally, there continues to be a concerted effort in refining the collaborative process through frequent provider to provider conversation. Colocation is an accepted component in this integrated program as plans for a new satellite clinic include an office for a behavioral health counselor. New health and behavior billing codes hold promise for a brighter financial future (Kessler, 2006).

Implementing change is a laborious process as demonstrated in this pilot project. In his conceptual model of integration, C.J. Peek posits that in order for an integrated system to be successful there must be an alignment of the clinical, organizational, and financial systems (Peek & Heinrich, 1995). All of these components must be considered when attempting integration. It was clear that an attempt to align those systems in the pilot project occurred but barriers that have been explicated in this paper were experienced and impeded the process. Serious consideration must be given to barriers that prevent true integration from occurring, such as appointment schedules, patient flow,

treatment settings, financial disincentives and philosophical differences (Gunn and Blount, 2008; Maine Health, 2009). Walker and Collins (2009) report that true integration is quite challenging and that totally integrated programs are rare. In a recent publication by the AHRQ (2008) reviewing RCT and high quality quasi –experimental design studies for integrated care components, the outcomes were positive but lacked consistency in models, approaches, and levels of integration. AHRQ recommendations included removing obstacles and barriers, creating incentives, and mandating integration (2008, p.vi).

#### Conclusion

It is clear that primary care behavioral health integration is effective but meets significant challenges at this time. The literature is robust in support of such practices. This pilot study guided by Kurt Lewin's Three Step Change Theory, proposed an expansion of behavioral health services in a primary care clinic. The proposal outlined three objectives upon which the pilot would be completed: (1) program design and structure; (2) clinician hire; and (3) certification. A literature review revealed supporting evidence of integrative and collaborative care. However, reports have emerged stating there is a lack of consistency in models, approaches and levels of integration (AHRQ, 2008). The proposal was based on a descriptive, longitudinal design evaluating the expansion of the behavioral health services and satisfaction of the stakeholders. Surveys were used to gather data. Although the data did not show significance, positive changes were noted.

Unexpected advantages of the pilot project provided a glimpse into more diversified services with an added staff member and the associated benefits that were afforded to patients. The project presented a traditionally trained behavioral health clinician the opportunity to experience a new approach to behavioral health consultation and permitted the author the opportunity to observe the practice change. It is the intent of this author to continue the movement towards expanding the service as more patients adopt the clinic as their medical home with increased demand for integrated services. Integrated behavioral health is no longer just an idea or a model; it is a movement whose time has come.

#### References

- Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. (2008). *Integration of mental health/ substance abuse and primary care*. Washington, DC: US Department of Health and Human Services accessed at http://www/ahrq.org on 8/6/09.
- American Academy of Family Physicians. (1999). Family physician, scope, philosophical statement. *AAFP Reference Manual*. Leawood, KS: American Academy of Family Physicians.
- American Academy of Family Physicians. (2001). Mental health care services (position paper). *AAFP Reference Manual*, Leawood, KS: American Academy of Family Physicians.
- Arvantes, J. (2008). Experts call for integration of primary care with mental health, substance abuse services. *AAFP News Now* Retrieved from <a href="http://www.afp.org/online/en/home/publications/new/news-now/professional-issues/2008.htm">http://www.afp.org/online/en/home/publications/new/news-now/professional-issues/2008.htm</a> on 4.27.08.
- Becker, L. (2000). Effect size lecture notes. University of Colorado website: <a href="http://www.uccs.edu/">http://www.uccs.edu/</a> ~ faculty/lbecker/.
- Berry, L., Selders, K., & Wilder, S. (2003). Innovation in access to care: a patient centered approach. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *139*, 568-574.
- Blount, A. (Ed.). (1998). Integrated primary care: the future of medical and mental health collaboration. New York, NY: Norton.
- Blount, A. (2003). Integrated primary care: organizing the evidence. *Families, Systems & Health*, 21, 121-134.
- Blount, A. & Miller. B. (2009) Addressing the workforce crisis in integrated primary

- care. Journal of Clinical Psychology in Medical Settings, 16, 1, 113-119.
- Bower, P. & Sibbald, B. (2003). On site mental health workers in primary care: effect on professional practice. *Cochran Database Systematic Review*. (3) CD002969.
- Bryan, C., Morrow, C., & Appolonio, K. (2009). Impact of behavioral health consultant interventions on patient symptoms and functioning in an integrated family medicine clinic. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 65, 3, 281-293.
- Canadian Collaborative Mental Health Initiative. (2006). *Collaboration between mental*health and primary care services: a planning and implementation toolkit for

  healthcare providers and planners. Mississauga, Ontario: Canadian Collaborative

  Mental Health Initiative.
- Coe, R. (2000). What is an "effect size". Retrieved from CEM, Durham University website @ <a href="http://www.cemcenre.org/renderpage.as?linkID=30325016">http://www.cemcenre.org/renderpage.as?linkID=30325016</a> on 11.13.09.
- Commission on Accreditation of Rehabilitation Facilities. (2009). *Behavioral health* standards manual. Washington, DC: CARF.
- Craven, M. & Bland, R. (2006). Better practices in collaborative mental health care: an analysis of the evidence base. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *51*, 1. Retrieved from www.ccmhi.ca. on 10.1.08.
- Cummings, N., O'Donohue, W., & Cummings, J. (2009). The financial dimension of integrated behavioral /primary care. *Journal of Clinical Psychology in Medical Settings*, *16*, 31-39.
- deGruy, F. (1996). Mental health care in the primary care setting. *Primary Care:*America's Health in a New Era. Washington, DC: National Academic Press.
- Doherty, W., McDaniel, S., & Baird, M. (1996). Five levels of primary care/behavioral

- healthcare collaboration. Behavioral Healthcare Tomorrow, October, 25-28.
- Ender, P. (2003). *Effect size*. Introduction to research statistics and design. Retrieved from UCLA Department of Education:

  <a href="http://www.gseis.ucla.edu/courses/ed230a2/notes/effect.html">http://www.gseis.ucla.edu/courses/ed230a2/notes/effect.html</a> on 11/4/09.
- Engel, G. (1977). The need for a new medical model: a challenge for bioscience. *Science*, 196, 129.
- Farrar, S., Kates, N., Crustili, A., & Nikolaou, L. (2001). Integrated model for mental health: are providers satisfied with it? *Canadian Family Physician*, 47, 2483-2488.
- Gallo, J., Zibrisky, J., Nazar, M., Bogner, H., Quiyano, L. et al. (2004). Primary care clinicians evaluated integrated and referral models of behavioral health care for older adults: results from a multisite effectiveness trial (PRISM-e). *Annals of Family Medicine*, 2, (4) 305-309.
- Goldman, L., Brody, D. & Wise, T. (1998). *Psychiatry for primary care physicians* (1<sup>st</sup> ed.). Chicago, IL: American Medical Association.
- Graham, R (2007). The patient-centered home: history, seven core features, evidence and transformational changes. Washington, DC: Robert Graham Center.
- Gunn, W. & Blount, A. (2009). Primary care mental health: a new frontier for psychology. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 65, (3), 235-252.
- Hazelbaker, C. & Halls, C. (2006). The swot analysis: simple, yet effective. *Athletic Therapy Today*, 11, (6), 53-55.
- Henning, A. (2000). A systematic review of the effectiveness of brief psychological counseling therapies in primary care. *Families, Systems & Health*, 18, 3, 279-314.
- Hirschfield, R. (2003). The mood disorder questionnaire: a simple patient rated screening

- instrument for bipolar disorder. *Primary Care Companion to the Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 4, (1), 9-11.
- Hershey, P., Blanchard, K., & Johnson, D. (1996). *Management of organizational behavior* (7<sup>th</sup> ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice –Hall.
- Hodges, B., Inch, C., & Silver, I. (2001). Improving the psychiatric knowledge, skills, and attitudes of primary care physicians, 1950-2000: a review. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 158, 1579-1586.
- Horn, S. (2003). Limiting access to psychiatric services can increase total health care costs. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, *64*, (17), 23-28.
- Integrated Primary Care. (2009). *Certificate program in primary care behavioral health*.

  Retrieved on November 6, 2009 from University of Massachusetts Medical

  School, Department of Family and Community Medicine website @

  <a href="http://umassmed.edu/fmch/index.aspx">http://umassmed.edu/fmch/index.aspx</a>.</a>
- Kahn, N. (2004). The future of family medicine: a collaborative project of the family medicine community. *Annals of Family Medicine*, 2, S3-S32.
- Katon, W., Roy-Byrne, P., Russo, J., & Cowley, D. (2002). Cost –effectiveness and cost offset of a collaborative care intervention for primary care patients with panic disorder. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *59*, 1098-1104.
- Kassen, H. & Jagoo, Z. (2005). Managing change in the nursing handover from traditional to bedside handover-a case study from Maritius. *BMC Nursing 4*, 1, 1472-6955-4-1. [Electronic version].
- Kates, N., Fugere, C., & Farrar, S. (2004). Family physician satisfaction with mental health services: findings from a community survey. *CPA Bulletin*, 10-14.
- Kessler, R. (2006). Integration of care is about money too: The health and behavior codes

- as and element of a new financial paradigm. *Families, Systems, and Health, 26,* (2), 207-216.
- Kessler, R. (2009). Identifying and screening for psychological and comorbid medical psychological disorders in medical settings. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 65, (3), 253-267.
- Klinkman, M. (2003). Role of alogorithms in detection and treatment in primary care. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 64,19-23.
- Lacy, N., Paul, A., Reuter, M., & Lovejoy, B. (2004). Why we don't come: patients' perceptions on no shows. *Annals of Family Medicine*, 2, 541-545.
- Lefevre, F., Reifler, D., Lee, P., Sbenghe, M., Nwadiaro, N., Verma, S. et al. (1999).

  Screening for undetected mental disorders in high utilizers of primary care services. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *14*, (7), 425-431.
- Lewin, K. (1951). Field theory in social science. New York, NY: Harper & Row.
- Lipsitt, D. (1997). From integration to fragmentation: a history of comprehensive patient care. In J. Haber & G. Mitchell, (Eds.), *Primary care meets mental health*.

  Tiburon, CA: Centralink.
- Liu, C., Hendricks, S., Chaney, E., Heagery, P., Felker, B., Hasenberg et al, (2003 Cost effectiveness of collaborative care for depression in a primary care veteran population. *Psychiatric Services*, *54*, 698 -704.
- Maine Health. (2009). *A practical guide to mental health integration*. Maine Health.

  Retrieved from <a href="https://www.ruralhealthweb.com/index.cfm?objectid=6EAF6313-1185-6B66-88B535E2D89B3334">www.ruralhealthweb.com/index.cfm?objectid=6EAF6313-1185-6B66-88B535E2D89B3334</a>.

- McClusky, A. & Cusick, A. (2001) Strategies for introducing evidence-based practice and changing clinician behavior: a manager's toolbox. *Australian Occupational Therapy Journal*, 49, 63-70.
- McEwen, M. & Willis, E. (2007). *Theoretical basis for nursing*, (2<sup>nd</sup> ed). Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins.
- Melynk, B. & Fineout- Overhold, E. (2005). *Evidence based practice in nursing and healthcare: a guide to best practice*, (1<sup>st</sup> ed.). Philadelphia, Pa: Lippincott.
- Mental Health, United States. (2004). Available at <a href="http://mentalhealth.samsha.gov/publications/allpubs/SMA06-4195/default.asp">http://mentalhealth.samsha.gov/publications/allpubs/SMA06-4195/default.asp</a>.
- Mitchell, A. & Selmes, T. (2007). Why patients don't attend their appointments: maintaining engagement with psychiatric services. *Advances in Psychiatric Treatment*, 13, 435-437.
- Morehead, P. (2006). New American Webster Handy College Dictionary,. (4<sup>th</sup> ed.). New York, NY: Signet.
- New Commission on Mental Health. (2002). Achieving the promise: transforming mental health care in America. The final report. Rockville, MD: DHHS.
- Petterson, S., Phillips, B., Bazemore, A., Dodoo, M., Zhang, X. & Green, I. (2008). Why there must be room for mental heath in the medical home. *American Family Physician*, 77, 6, 757.
- Peek, C. & Heinrich, R. (1995). Building a collaborative healthcare organization: from idea to invention to innovation. *Family Systems Medicine*, 13, 327-342.

- Polit, D. & Beck, C. (2008). *Nursing research: generating and assessing evidence for nursing practice* (8<sup>th</sup> ed.). Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins.
- Polit, D. & Sherman, R. (1990). Statistical power analysis in nursing research. *Nursing Research*, 39, 365-369.
- Pomerantz, A., Corson, J., & Detzer. (2009). The challenge of integrated care for mental health: leaving the 50 minute hour and other scared things. *Journal of Clinical Psychology in Medical Settings*, *16*, 40-46.
- Reiger, D., Narrow, W., Rae, D., Mandersheid, R. Locke, B., & Goodwin, F. (1993). The defacto U.S. mental health and addictive disorders service system. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *50*, 85-94.
- Robinson, P. & Reiter, J. (2007). Behavioral consultation and primary care: a guide to integrating services. New York, NY: Springer.
- Robinson, P. & Strosahl, K. (2009). Behavioral health consultation and primary care; lessons learned. *Journal of Clinical Psychology in Medical Settings*, *16*, 1, 58-71.
- SMARTPsych. (2009). Ceiling Effect. *Psychology statistics/methods*. Retrieved from the University Of Washington, Department Of Psychology at <a href="http://courses.washington.edu/smartpsy/glossary.htm">http://courses.washington.edu/smartpsy/glossary.htm</a> on 11/7/09.
- Spitzer, R., Kroenke, K., & Williams, J. (1999). Validation and utility of a self report version of PRIME-MD: PHQ primary care study. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 282, 1737-1744.

- Strosahl, K. (1998). Integrating behavioral health and primary care services: the primary mental health care model. In A. Blount, (Ed.). *Integrated primary care: the future of medical and mental health collaboration*. New York: W. W. Norton.
- Tovian, S. (2009). *Integrated health care-one stop shopping*. American Psychological Association. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.newswise.com/articles/five-questions">http://www.newswise.com/articles/five-questions</a> on <a href="http://www.newswise.com/articles/five-questions">http://www.newswise.com/articles/five-questions</a> on <a href="http://www.newswise.com/articles/five-questions">11/5/09</a>.
- Tylee, A. & Gandhi, P. (2005). The importance of somatic symptoms in depression in primary care. *Primary Care Companion of the Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 7, 167-176.
- Unutzer, J., Katon, W., Callahan, C., Williams, Hunkeler, E., Harpole, L. et al. (2002).

  Collaborative care management of late-life depression in the primary care setting:

  a randomized control trial. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 288,
  2836-2845.
- US Department of Health and Human Services. (1999). *Mental health: a report of the Surgeon General*. Rockville, MD: US Department of Health and Human Services.
- Walker, B. & Collins, B. (2009. Developing an integrated primary care practice: strategies, techniques, and a case illustration. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 65, 268-280.
- Wiger, D. (1999). *The clinical documentation sourcebook,* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). New York, NY: Wiley.
- World Health Organization. (2001). *The world health report 2001: mental health: new understanding, new hope*. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.

- Zint, M. & Montgomery, N. (2008). *Power analysis, statistical significance, & effect size*. Retrieved from the University of Michigan, Department of Education website @ <a href="http://meera.snre.umich.edu/plan-on-evaluation/plonarticlemultipage.2007-10-30-.3630902539/power-analysis-statistical-significance">http://meera.snre.umich.edu/plan-on-evaluation/plonarticlemultipage.2007-10-30-.3630902539/power-analysis-statistical-significance</a>.
- Zoberi, K. Niemiec, R., & Margolis, R. (2008). Teaching integrated behavioral health in a primary care clerkship. *Medical Teacher*, *30*, e218 e223.

Zuckerman, E. (2003). The paper office, (3<sup>rd</sup>, ed). New York, NY: Guilford.

# Rationale for the Program:

If the integration of behavioral health clinicians into primary care continues to grow and spread as fast as it has in the last three years, the US will shortly face a staffing crisis. The number of training programs turning out new behavioral health professionals who have the skills to work in primary care is woefully inadequate. And training is necessary. Programs that have transferred mental health professionals straight from specialty mental health centers into primary care have often failed in the past. A transitional experience is needed to give trained mental health professionals the substantive orientation they need to become behavioral health professionals in primary care.

The Department of Family Medicine and Community Health has been training mental health professionals to provide services in primary medical care settings for over fifteen years. In January of 2007, the Department launched a program designed to train mental health professionals to function successfully as behavioral health clinicians in primary care. The program consists of 36 hours of didactic and interactive training. The program is delivered in 6 full-day workshops, one Friday per month for six months. If a participant must miss a scheduled workshop, the material and the credit can be made up by listening to a recording of the session. Participants who complete the whole program receive a Certificate of Completion. Teaching is done by members of the Department of Family Medicine and Community Health of the University of Massachusetts Medical School (see page 2 for a complete listing).

#### Cost:

The tuition for the program is \$1600 per person (fee subject to change without notice), and is due prior to the first workshop in the series. Interested professionals should contact Melissa McLaughlin at McLauM01@ummhc.org

### Appendix B

#### Behavioral Health customer service unit

**Behavioral Health** programs include services to persons or families with needs related to mental illness, alcohol or other drug usage, and other addictions, such as gambling. The services may address relationship or adjustment concerns, domestic violence, and other family issues. The services may be designed to prevent potential problems and treat existing ones. Behavioral health programs are provided in a variety of settings ranging from clinics and inpatient locations to the home, school, community, or criminal justice settings.

Behavioral Health program descriptions (PDF)

Business and Services Management Network program descriptions (PDF)

Frequently asked questions

**Opioid Treatment Program** 

Accreditation and standards

Discounted insurance premiums for qualified providers

Register for Behavioral Health seminars online

Order the Behavioral Health standards manual and other publications online

Learn more about the Value of CARF Accreditation (PDF)

Go to Promising Practices newsletter (Behavioral Health)

Accredited providers may <u>download a CARF, CARF Canada</u>, or <u>CARF-CCAC logo</u> to display on their website and printed materials.

Visit CARF Canada

Additional resources:

<u>The HIPAA Security Rule: CMS' enforcement activities acquire teeth</u> by Robin A. Johnson. The Security Rule requires covered entities to protect the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of its "electronic protected health information."

Copyright CARF © 2009. All rights reserved.

Appendix C: Force Field Analysis

Driving Forces	Restraining Forces
Increased demand for services @	Continued primary care mindset by
HFFM	Administration
Lack of time with current provide	Lack of space at facilities
Increased demand for services @	Lack of BH management expertise
Other offices –medical/surgical,	Low reimbursement rates for
Maternity center	BH services vs. PC services
APRN will lead change project	Management concerns regarding
Dean's support	hiring more BH FTEs
Eight years of success with current	
program	
Program Director's commitment to	
PC/BH integration	

Appendix D: Proforma Budget for Behavioral Health Clinicians

# Revenue

NOVOITAG		
Gross Patient Revenue	\$163,200.00	2 staff X 20 sessions each X 48 weeks X \$100 less an estimated 15% no show rate
Deductions	\$ 57,120.00	Deduction to approximate average insurance payment of \$65
Net Patient Revenue	\$106,080.00	
<b>Total Operating Revenue</b>	\$106,080.00	
Operating Expenses		
Contract Services UHA Operations Support	\$ 63,648.00	60% of patient revenue paid to clinicians
(10%)	\$ 10,608.00	
Deans Support (10%) Non-Capital	\$ 10,608.00	
Furniture/Equipment	\$ 2,000.00	Desk/chair/computer
Recruitment/Advertising	\$ 500.00	
Miscellaneous Expense	\$ 500.00	
Provider Tax	\$ 604.66	.6% of patient revenue Assumes 5% of net patient revenue is
Bad Debt Expense	\$ 5,304.00	not collected
Total Operating Expenses	\$ 93,772.66	
Total Gain / (Loss)	\$ 12,307.34	-

## Appendix E



April 15, 2008

Lisa Hardman, DNP WVU School of Nursing PO Box 9630 Morgantown, WV 26506

Re: Capstone project for Carolyn Donovan, DNP Candidate

Dear Dr. Hardman:

This letter is to support Carolyn Donovan's Capstone project for her DNP degree. Primary care offices throughout West Virginia generally lack behavioral counseling services. Carolyn has suggested a project to expand behavioral health services at rural clinics using a contracted model for services.

The Eastern Division will be happy to provide space, scheduling, and other similar support necessary to accomplish this project. We will gladly support this project and feel that if shown to be effective it could positively impact patient care in rural areas.

Sincerely,

C.H.M. Jacques, MD, PhD Associate Vice President Health Sciences Dean, Eastern Division

Eastern Division

Phone: (304) 264-9202 Fax: (304) 264-9042 2500 Foundation Way Martinsburg, WV 25401

Equal Opportunity/Affirmative Action Institution

## Appendix F

# **West Virginia University**

## Harpers Ferry Family Medicine

### **Provider Survey**

Can you rate the extent to which the following present problems to you when handling individuals with mental health problems in your practice?

(1 = no problem, 7 = severe problem)

1.) Access to (or waiting time for) treatment for individuals needing psychotherapy	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
2.) Access to emergency mental health assessments for adults	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
3.) Timely communication with mental health providers	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
4.) Access to information concerning the status of patients referred for mental health care	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
5). Opportunities to discuss cases with a mental health professional (counselor, social; worker, nurse, psychologist)	1	2	3	4 5	5 6	5 7	

Adapted from Collaboration between mental health primary care services: a planning and implementation toolkits for health care providers and planners. February 2006.

# Appendix G

# West Virginia University Harpers Ferry Family Medicine

Consumer Satisfaction Survey

Here are some questions about **the visit you just made**. In terms of your satisfaction, how would you rate each of the following?

cach of the following.	Excellent	Very	Good	Fair	Poor
How long you waited to get this appointment?  How much has the person you see for mental	1	2	3	4	5
health care helped you with your problems?  The technical skills (knowledge, thoroughness,	1	2	3	4	5
competence) of the person you saw?  The personal manner (courtesy, respect, sensitivity, friendliness) of the person you saw?	1	2	3	4	5
	1	2	3	4	5
This visit overall?	1	2	3	4	5

Here are some questions about **your mental health care in general.** In terms of your satisfaction, how would you rate each of the following?

Poor	Excellent	Very	Good	Fair	
The amount of time you had to wait for your <b>first</b> appointment with a therapist/counselor? Being seen for mental health care in your	1	2	3	4	5
family physician's office?	1	2	3	4	5
Your mental health treatment overall?	1	2	3	4	5

.

Adapted from Collaboration between metal health primary care services: a planning and implementation toolkit for health care providers and planners, 2006.

# Appendix H

# West Virginia University

# Harpers Ferry Family Medicine

# **Staff Survey**

Can you rate the extent to which the following present problems to you when handling individuals with mental health problems in the practice? (1 = no problem, 7 = severe problem)

1.) Access to appointments for adults needing counseling within the practice	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
2.) Access to emergency mental health assessments for adults in the practice	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
3.) Access to appointments for adults within the community referred for mental health care	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
4.) Positive patient reports that counseling services are offered in this clinic	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
5.) Difficulty dealing with patients who are identified as having a mental health problem	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Adapted from Collaboration between metal health primary care services: a planning and implementation toolkit for health care providers and planners, 2006.

## Appendix I

#### UHA - Harpers Ferry Family Medicine Integrated Behavioral Health Services Counseling Policies

Harpers Ferry Family Medicine Integrated Behavioral Health Services (IBHS) offers brief, solution-focused counseling services. A referral from your provider will alert our front desk staff to provide you with the opportunity to make an appointment with the mental health provider after signing this document. At the initial assessment session, the mental health provider will assist you in defining your concerns and establishing a treatment plan. If at any point it is established that another service outside the clinic may be more suitable, you will be assisted in identifying more appropriate resources.

Please arrive promptly for your appointments. A late arrival of 15 minutes or more, without notification and approval, will be considered a late cancellation and will result in a fee of \$35. Missed appointments reduce our ability to provide services to other patients. If you are unable to keep your appointment, you must cancel at least 24 business hours in advance. A fee of \$35 will be charged for no-shows. To cancel your appointment, you must speak to a scheduler during work hours. Cancellations left on voicemail overnight or on weekends will result in a fee of \$35. Failure to pay the fee may prevent you from receiving further behavioral health services until the fee is paid. Repetitive no-shows or late cancellations may lead to dismissal from behavioral health services.

Psychiatric medications may be prescribed by nurse practitioners who specialize in behavioral health. Risks and benefits of the medications will be discussed with you as well as side effects. It is the responsibility of the patient to request medication refills in a timely manner. Please contact your pharmacy, which will in turn call the clinic with the request. A 72 hour time period is required. Neither the clinic nor the provider is responsible for monitoring refills. Routine medication refills are authorized only during regular clinic hours. Do not contact the doctor on call for medication refills.

Patients who are on maintenance medications are required to be seen at the minimum of twice yearly. Some patients whose medications require lab tests may be seen more frequently. Patients who neglect to keep the required follow up appointments will not receive refills.

Every effort is made to verify insurance coverage. Some insurance companies do not cover mental health benefits. Ultimately, it is the patient's responsibility to contact their insurance company to verify coverage. Patients will be required to sign a payment waiver. The mental health billing specialist is available to assist you with any questions you may have about this policy.

Harpers Ferry Family Medicine is a training site. Medical students, family medicine residents and nurse practitioner

students may sometimes participate in patients' counseling sessions as part of their learning experience. Their observation is important to their education. However, if you are uncomfortable with this, please feel free to discuss with the provider.

In keeping with ethical standards and federal law, all information is kept confidential except as outlined in the NOTICE OF PRIVACY PRACTICES that you are requested to endorse. The professional staff has the legal responsibility to disclose patient information without consent when a patient is likely to harm him/herself or others unless protective measures are taken, when there are reasonable suspicions of abuse or neglect of children, dependent adults or the elderly, when the patient lacks the capacity to care for him/herself and when there is a valid court order for the disclosure of patient files. However, these are rare situations. By signing a consent form, the patient gives us permission to communicate with the emergency contact designated if the staff believes you are at risk. Any questions about this may be addressed with the behavioral health provider.

Counseling and therapy can have both risks and benefits. The counseling process may include discussion of personal challenges and difficulties which can elicit uncomfortable feelings such as sadness, anger and frustration. On the other hand, counseling has been shown to have many positive benefits. It can often lead to improved social relationships, better work performance, solutions to specific problems and reductions in feelings of distress. However, there is no assurance of these

I agree and understand the above policies related to my participation in behavioral health services.

Patient Name (print)	
Patient Signature	
Guardian if patient under 18 years of age	
Date	

C:\Documents and Settings\donovanc\Local Settings\Temporary Internet Files\OLK7A\BMED\_Counseling\_Policies.doc 171 Taylor Street (Bolivar) Harpers Ferry, WV 25425 (304) 535-6343 ph (304) 535-6618 fax

٠

#### Appendix J

#### UHA - Harpers Ferry Family Medicine Integrated Behavioral Health Services Privacy Practices

This notice describes how medical information about you may be used and disclosed and how you can get access to this information. Please review carefully.

Our Duty to Safeguard
Your Protected Health Information

Information about your past, present, or future health or condition, the provision of healthcare to you, or payment for the healthcare is considered "Protected Health Information" ("PIH"). We are required to protect your PHI and to give you this Notice about our privacy practices that explains how, when, and why we may use or disclose your PHI. Except in very specific situations, we will only release the minimum necessary information to carry out the request.

We are required to follow the privacy practices described in this Notice, though we reserve the right to change our privacy practices and the terms of this Notice at any time. You may request a copy of the new notice from your therapist or office staff.

How We May Use and Release your Protected Health Information

We use and release information about you for many reasons. We have a limited right to use and/or release information about your for purposes of treatment, payment, or healthcare operations. For uses beyond that, we must have your written permission unless the law permits or requires us to make the use or disclosure without your permission. If we have to give out information to another person or business to perform a function on our behalf, then we have to make sure that they will protect your information the same way we are required to protect your information. For instance, if you have Medicaid, we are required to send information about you to the West Virginia Bureau of Behavioral Health and Health Facilities and American Psych Systems so that Medicaid will pay for your services. We have to have a written agreement with them to insure us that they are going to protect the information we send them.

Uses and Releases Relating to Treatment, Payment, or Health Care Operations

Here are some examples of how information about you is shared or released:

For Treatment: We will share information with doctors, nurses, and other healthcare personnel in our facilities that are involved in providing your healthcare. For example, information about you will be shared among members of your treatment team at this agency or for consultation purposes.

To Obtain Payment: We may use/disclose information about you in order to bill and collect payment for your healthcare services. For example, we may release

information about you to Medicaid, Medicare, or a private insurer so we can be paid for services delivered to you.

For Healthcare Operations: We may use/release information about you in the course of operating our agency. For example, we may use information about you to evaluate the quality of our services or when we are audited.

Appointment Reminders: Unless you provide us with different instructions, we may send letters or call your home about canceled or rescheduled appointments.

Uses and Releases of Information About You from Medical Health Records Not Requiring Consent or Authorization

There are times when the laws allows us to release information about you without your consent in the following ways:

When Required by Law: The law requires we report information about suspected abuse, neglect, or domestic violence, or relating to suspected criminal activity. If we receive a signed court order by a judge, we must release the information requested in the order. Sometimes we have to release information to the Medical Examiner (Coroner) if there's an investigation of a death. We must also release information to authorities that monitor us in carrying out these privacy requirements.

For Public fleath Activities: We may release information when we are required to coffeet information about disease or injury to the public health authority.

For Health Oversight Activities: We may release information to state or federal agencies that come in periodically to check the way we provide our services and keep our records.

Fo Avert Threat to Health or Safety: In order to avoid a serious threat to health or safety, we may release information as necessary to law enforcement or other persons who can reasonably prevent or lessen the threat of harm.

For Specific Government Functions: We may release information of military personnel and veterans in certain situations, to correctional facilities in certain situations, to government benefit programs relating to eligibility and enrollment, and for national security reasons, such as protection of the President.

Uses and Disclosures of PHI from Alcohol and Other Drug Records Not Requiring Consent or Authorization: The law provides we may use/release information from alcohol and other drug records without consent or authorization in the following circumstances:

When Required by Law: The law requires we report information about suspected abuse, neglect or domestic violence, or relating to suspected criminal activity. If we

C://Documents and Softmgs/ED1028E/Desktop/BMED\_Privacy\_Practices.doc

171 Taylor Street (Bolivar) Harpers Ferry, WV 25425 (304) 535-6343 ph (304) 525-6618 fax

#### UHA - Harpers Ferry Family Medicine Integrated Behavioral Health Services Privacy Practices

receive a signed court order by a judge, we must release the information requested in the order. Sometimes we have to release information to the Medical Examiner (Coroner) if there's an investigation of a death. We must also release information to authorities that monitor us in carrying out these privacy requirements.

To Avert Threat to Health or Safety: In order to avoid a serious threat to health or safety, we may release information as necessary to law enforcement or other persons who can reasonably prevent or lesson the threat of harm.

Uses and Releases Requiring You to Make an Opportunity to Object: In the following situations we may disclose a limited amount of information if we inform you about the disclosure in advance and you do not object, as long as the disclosure is not otherwise prohibited by law.

To Families, Friends, or Others Involved in Your Care: We may share with these people information directly related to their involvement in your care, or payment for your care. WE may also share information with these people to notify them about your location, general condition, or death.

Your Rights Regarding Your Protected Health Information: You have the following rights related to the protection of your health information:

To Request Restrictions on Uses/Releases: You have the right to ask that we limit how we use or release information about you. We will consider your request, but are not legally bound to agree to the restriction. To the extent we do agree to any restrictions on our use/release of your information, we will put the agreement in writing and abide by it except in emergency situations. We cannot agree to limit uses/releases required by law.

To Choose How We Contact You: You have the right to ask we send you information at an alternative address or by alternative means. We must agree to your request as long as it is reasonably easy for us to do so.

To Inspect and Request a Copy of Your Protected Health Information: You have the right to see your protected health information unless your treatment team feels it is not in your best inferest to see it. We will respond to your written request within 30 days. If we deny your access, we will give you written reasons for the denial and explain any right to have the denial reviewed. If you want copies of your information, you will be charged a copying fee as allowed by state law. You have the right to choose what portions of your information you want copied and to be informed of the cost of copying.

To Request Amendment of Your PIII: If you believe that there is a mistake or missing information in our record of your information, you may request, in writing, we correct or add to the record. We will respond within 60 days of receiving your request. We may deny the request if we determine that the information is (1) correct and complete (2) not created by us and/or not part of our records, or (3) not permitted to be disclosed. Any denial will state the reasons for denial and explain your rights to have the request and denial, along with any statement in response that you provide, added to your record. If we approve the request for amendment, we will change the information and inform you, and tell others that need to now about the change in your information.

To Find Out What Disclosures Have Been Made: You have a right to get a list of when, to whom, or for what purpose, and what content of your record has been released other than instances of disclosure for treatment, payment, and operations, to you, your family, or any release made with your authorization. The list also will not include any disclosures made for national security purposes, to law enforcement officials or correctional facilities, or disclosures made before April 2003. We will respond to your written request for such a list within 60 days of receiving it. Your request can relate to disclosures going as far back as six years. There will be no charge for up to one such list each year. There may be a charge for more frequent requests.

To Receive This Notice: You have the right to receive a paper copy of this Notice and/or an electronic copy by email upon request.

How to Complain About Our Privacy Practices: If you think we may have violated your privacy rights, or you disagree with a decision we made about access to your record, you may file a complaint with the Secretary of the US Department of Health and Iluman Services at 200 Independence Avenue, SWW, Washington, DC 20201 or call 1-877-696-6775. We will take no retaliatory action against you if you make such complaints.

I understand these rights as I have read them and/or they have been explained to me. I understand I will be given a written copy of the Notice of Privacy Practices at my request.

Consumer/Guardian Sign	ature		
Print Name		<u>.</u>	
Date	-		

# Appendix K

## UHA - Harpers Ferry Family Medicinc Integrated Behavioral Health Services INFORMED CONSENT TO TREATMENT WITH MEDICATION

1,	a patient of	, have received
the complete explanation of my medication(s).		
Description of Medications: (check appropriate c Antipsychotic* Anti parkinsonian agent Anxilytic agent Ilypnotic / Sedative	ategory) Mood StabilizerPsychostimulantCognition EnhancerOther:	Antidepressant
My provider has discussed with me the nature of been prescribed. My provider has discussed with likelihood of my psychiatric / behavioral problem informed of the consequences of my refusing med provider has discussed them with me. I have been expected from this medication. I have decided to psychiatric / behavioral problems at this time. I u and that if I change my decision I will contact my emergence of any side effects.  *The symptoms and risks of Tardive Dyskinesia a	me the reasons why medication n is improving or not improving with lication. If effective treatment alto informed of the potential side of accept medication as prescribed funderstand that I may change my disprovider. It is important to repor-	nay be helpful, including the h medication, and I have been crnatives are available, my feets and risks reasonable to be or the treatment of my ecision to accept medication t to my provider the
Patient	Date	
Representative	Date	
Relationship to Patient		
Person Giving Explanation	Position	·
Provider	Date	
If this consent is for treatment of a minor or for a must be provided:	patient that is unable to give cons	ent, the following information
a) Name of one or both parents, if known:		
b) Name of managing conservator or guardian or	person, if appointed:	· <del></del>
c) Date on which treatment is to begin:		 
C/Openments and Settings/Idonovane/Local Settings/Temporary Inc	remet Files(OLK7A'HMED_Informed_Consen	nt_Med.doc
II	1 Faylor Street (Bolivar) impers Petry, WV 25/25 5-6343 ph (304) 535-6618 fax	

.

# Appendix L

# UHA - Harpers Ferry Family Medicine Integrated Behavioral Health Services INFORMED CONSENT FOR THE RELEASE OF CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION

I,	, date of birth	authorize UHA - Integrated
	nange information related to my	treatment with
The purpose of this release is		
<ul> <li>Integrated Behavioral Health Scr information requested. I understan governing. Confidentiality of Alco disclosed without my written conse</li> </ul>	cleased under this or previous at vices from all liability that may d that my records are protected of shol and Drug Abuse, Patient Re ant unless otherwise provided for	athorizations. I hereby release UHA arise from the release of the
Date	Patient Signature	
	Signature of Parent, C	luardian of Authorized Representative
	Witness	
C. Openments and Settings Idonovane Local Setting	g/Temporary Internet Files/OLK7A/HMED Info	ormed_Consent HPLdoc
	171 Taylor Street (Bolivar) Harpers Ferry, WV 25425 (304) 535-6343 ph (304) 535-6618 fax	
		:

# Appendix M

# UIIA - Harpers Ferry Family Medicine Integrated Behavioral Health Services PATIENT INTAKE FORM Self Information Sheet

PATIENT NAME:	AGE:	SEX: M	F	DATE: _	
Person completing this form:PatientGuardian	Other				
· Depression					
☐ Does not feel joy					
□ Hopelessness					
□ Worthlessness					
☐ Energy level					
☐ Concentration					
☐ Sleep					
Weight					
- Memory problems					
4					
_ Irritability					
_ Sexual issues					<del></del>
Suicidal thoughts					
□ Thoughts of harming others					
Provider Notes:					
A - 1					
Do you have any problems with alcohol or other drugs?  If yes:  Do you need to cut down on alcohol/drug use?				Yes	II No □ No
Do you feel angry when someone talks about your a	lcohol/drug use	?		⊒ Yes	1 No
Do you feel guilty about your alcohol/drug use?					∟ No
Do you need alcohol/drugs to get you going in the m	ioming?			∃ Yes	□ No
Does stopping alcohol/drug cause:				- 17	3.7
Palpitations, flushed skin, sweating					. No
Increased hand tremors				∏ Yes	□ No
Insomnia					-1 No
Nausea/vomiting				□ Yes	□ No
Hallucinations				⊆ Yes	∐ No
Agitation				⁻Yes · Yes	□ No □ No
Anxiety					
Seizures				⊒ Yes	Li No
Social impairment				1 Yes	□ No
Money spent on alcohol/drug per day					· <del>·</del>
Legal problems due to alcohol/drug					·
C:\Documents and Settings\donovane\t.ocal Settings\Temporary Internet Files\OLK7A\B 171 Taylor Sheet ( Harpers Ferry, W) (304) 535-6343 ph (304)	(Polivar) V 25425	Form.duc			

.

Financia:	al problems	due to alcohol/drug
Provide	er Notes: _	
Have ye	ou ever had	any of these symptoms over a period of time?
∐ Yes	□ No	Racing thoughts
Yes	□ No	Excessive spending
□ Yes	□ No	Self-importance
⊔ Yes	11 No	Impulsive behaviors
□ Yes	□ No	Cannot sleep
□ Yes	□ No	Mood swings
□ Yes	□ No	Talks too fast
∐ Yes	" No	Excessive energy
Yes	□No	Increased sexual drive
□ Yes	□ No	Dangerous behaviors
Provide	er Notes:	
		·
Mild el	evation of r	mood
		or few days
	_	or few days
	er Notes: _	
TIDVAL	er Morea	
Have v	au been cor	nstantly anxious/worried with these symptoms for at least 6 months?
□ Yes	□ No	Cannot control worry
Yes	: No	Increased irritability
Yes	No	Musele tension
☐ Yes	∃ No	Sleep disturbance
: Yes	□ No	Daniel and the first
□ Yes	⊔ No	Increased fatigue
□ Yes	□ No	
Provid	er Notes: _	
Have y	ou had any	of these symptoms over a period of time?
□ Yes	□ No	Panic attack
- Yes	□ No	Palpitations
		\donovane\logal Settings\Temporary Internet Files\OLK7A\BMED Parient_Intake_Form.doc
C. COUCUM	жив ана жаагуу	171 Taylor Street (Bolivar) Harpers Ferry, WV 25425 (304) \$35-6343 ph (304) \$35-6618 fax

.

PATIENT	NAME:	AGE: SEX: M F DATE:
∃ Ycs	□ No	Sweating
⊢ Yes	□ No	Trembling
⊔ Yes	11 No	Shaking
Yes	Г №	Shortness of breath
□ Yes	_ No	Chest pain
□ Yes	□ No	Nausca
∐ Yes	□ No	Fear of dying
□ Yes	□ No	Fear of losing control
_ Yes	II No	Unusual sensations (e.g. tingling in arms/legs)
Provide	r Notes: 🌊	
	· · No	Excessive fear or anxiety when among strangers
_ Yes		Avoid people/places because of anxiety
	_i No	Avoid people/places because of anxiety
rroyige	r Notes: _	
□ Yes	□ No	Persistent thoughts, impulses, images which are intrusive/inappropriate and cause anxiety
□ Yes	No	Recognize that thoughts are product of own mind
Yes	: No	Repetitive or ritualistic behavior
Provide	r Notes: _	
If yes		scribe the event:
	••	ise fear, helplessness, horror about the incident
-		ring experience (flashbacks)
		ressing recollections or dreams
		dance of stimuli that are associated with the trauma
		that something bad is going to happen (hyper vigilance)
Provide	er Notes: _	
— N	Aemory im	pairment
	anguage pi	
		otor activities
	-	cognize objects
		in executive functioning
		significant distress or impairment in social, occupational, or other areas of functioning:
C:\Decume	ents and Settings	AdonovanchLocal Settings/Temporary Internet Files/OLK/7A/BMFD_Patient_Intake_Form.doc 171 Tayfor Street (Botiver) Harpers Ferry, WV 25425 (304) 535-6343 ph (304) 535-6618 fax

•

Intense fear of weight gain Refusal to maintain weight	
Absence of menstruation	
Distorted body image	
Binge eating	
Lack of control over eating	
Eating all the time	
Self-induced vomiting	
Use laxatives, diuretics, enemas	
rovider Notes:	
Ovider Notes.	
Cannot go to sleep (or stay asleep) for at least 1 month	
rovider Notes:	
Failure to resist aggressive impulses that result in serious assaultive acts or destruction of property	
Degree of aggression greater than any psychosocial stresses	
rovider Notes:	
Delusional (unusual beliefs)	
Ilallucinations (heating voices/seeing things)	
Speech that does not make sense	
Catatonic behaviors (mute all the time)	
Stays in one place all the time	
Unable to work or perform normal social functions	
uration	
rovider Notes:	
ther complaints/symptoms:	
<u> </u>	
Mixicuments and Settings\dunovane\Local Settings\Temporary Internet Files\OLK7A\BMED_Patient_Intake_Form.doc 171 Taylor Street (Bolivar)	
Harpers Perry, WV 25425	

# Appendix N

## UHA - Harpers Ferry Family Medicine Integrated Behavioral Health Services TELEPHONE APPOINTMENT REMINDER CONSENT

Patient Name (print)		ive Provider Na	ame (print)	
nd members of his/her staff working an appointment to remind me of the ap	at the location in opointment date	ndicated above my permi and time.	ssion to call me	prior to
would prefer to be called at (check al	l that apply):	IIome		
		Work		
		Cell		
es, this office may leave (check all the	oat apply):			
Voicemail at my Home	Voicemai	l at my Work	Voicemail or	my Cell
Messages with people at my Ho	ome	Messages w	ith people at my	Work
			_	
I understand that I may withdraw this conthat action has been taken on reliance on is specified above unless I withdraw my concomplete my treatment, unless the physician	it. This consent will sent during treatme	I last while I am being treated ent. This consent will expire	t by the physician	
that action has been taken on reliance on i specified above unless I withdraw my con complete my treatment, unless the physici	it. This consent will sent during treatme	I last while I am being treated ent. This consent will expire	t by the physician	
that action has been taken on reliance on is specified above unless I withdraw my concomplete my treatment, unless the physicial action. Signature	it. This consent wi isent during treatme ian specified above	I last while I am being treated ent. This consent will expire	Date	
that action has been taken on reliance on i specified above unless I withdraw my con	it. This consent will issent during treatmeter that is specified above	Il last while I am being treated ent. This consent will expire to is otherwise notified by me.	Date	
that action has been taken on reliance on is specified above unless I withdraw my con complete my treatment, unless the physicilar Signature  Parent / Guardian Signature	it. This consent will issent during treatmeter that is specified above	Il last while I am being treated out. This consent will expire is otherwise notified by me.	Date	
that action has been taken on reliance on is specified above unless I withdraw my con complete my treatment, unless the physicilar Signature  Parent / Guardian Signature	it. This consent will issent during treatment in specified above	Il last while I am being treated out. This consent will expire is otherwise notified by me.  arent/Guardian Name Print  Vitness Name Print	Date  Date  Date	

#### Appendix O

# Integrated Behavioral Health Clinician (Therapist) Job Description

#### SUMMARY:

The Integrated Behavioral Health Clinician, as part of the primary care treatment team, identifies triages and manages patients with behavioral health problems within the primary care setting. In addition, the Integrated Behavioral Health Clinician will provide skill training through psycho-education and patient education strategies and will develop specific behavioral change plans for patients and behavioral health protocols for target populations.

#### ESSENTIAL DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES:

- Provide brief mental health assessment, treatment, and/or referral to specialty mental health services.
- · Assess patients' needs as defined by specified physician consultation.
- Evaluates current behavioral and psychosocial symptoms and provides feedback to the PCP and team.
- Provides patient education regarding symptoms and diagnosis.
- Provides interventions that are culturally sensitive, evidence based, simple and applies patient strengths.
- Consults with the PCP team on various behavioral health and psychosocial issues.
- Triages patients to specialty mental health as needed.
- Documents patient visit, patient care and treatment decisions in the medical record. The referring provider will have access to such medical record.

#### QUALIFICATIONS:

- Good working knowledge of behavioral health and evidence-based treatments for mental health conditions
- Ability to make expeditious and accurate clinical assessments of mental and behavioral conditions
- · High level of comfort working with primary care providers
- Ability to work through brief patient contacts
- Ability to work effectively in a team interfacing with patients, primary care providers, mental health providers and with administrative and support staff
- Ability to provide short term solution focused interventions and psychoeducation

# Pg.2

#### EDUCATION and/or EXPERIENCE:

- Masters in Social Work or
- PhD/ PsyD in Psychology or
- Masters prepared Advanced Practice Psychiatric Nurse

#### LICENSE and CERTIFICATION:

- · Current WV license as an LCSW or
- · Current WV license as a psychologist or
- Current WV RN licensure, MSN in nursing, and ANCC certification as an advanced practice psychiatric nurse

# Appendix P

# MENTAL HEALTH. GLINICIAN

Unique part-time position available in a universitybased health olinic for WV LCSW/LICSW or ANCC Advanced Practice Psychiatric Nurse providing short-term solution-focused counseling to patients in a primary care setting. Successful candidates will possess a WV professional license and/or national certification from discipline, previous work experience and the ability to work independently in a fast paced, clinic setting. Interested persons may fax a resume and cover letter to IBHS @ 304-535-4105 EOE

## Appendix Q

#### Education:

Masters in Social Work: West Virginia University, June 2003

Bachelor of Science in Psychology. Vanderbilt University, Nashville, TN, 1988.

High School: The Madeira School, Greenway, Va., 1985.

#### Employment History:

Shenandoah Women's Center. Angust 2004 – present. Martinsburg, WV Title: Counselot/Social Worker.

My job responsibilities include providing therapy services to inferred clients. This is a part-time, fee for service position. In addition to providing themay services, a major accomplishment in the past year has been taking on an additional responsibility for the purpose of helping the Center to keep grant funding at risk of being lost. I contributed, expanded and revamped the sexual assault prevention program at the Center which enabled this program to meet grant goals and maintain funds. I have followed up by helping to train and acclimate the new individual who has been hired as the prevention specialist to take over this role.

Veteraus Affaire Medical Center, August 2003 – June 2004 Martinsburg, WV

Title: Social Worker, Center for Addiction Treatment (CAT J) at the VAMC.

My job responsibilities included acting as primary therapist for a number of individuals in the Cornetstone Work Recovery track of the CAT 5 program. In addition to being a therapist, I was responsible for providing vocational assistance to patients in the program. I developed job contacts and regularly explored job opportunities through local companies for veterans, and assisted them with finding transportation. I developed and led a class entitled "Job Readiness from a Recovery Viewpoint." In addition, I performed psychosocial assessments on many of the newly admitted patients.

Accomplishments in Job Development 1 established three community partnerships with local businesses. Those businesses agreed to partner with the VA and interview tefetied veterans seeking employment. In addition, I developed a standardized procedure for individuals seeking employment.

VAMC, August 2002 – May, 2003 Martinsburg, WV

Title: Graduate Student Intern, Contex for Addiction Treatment at the VAMC My job responsibilities included performing psychosocial assessments on the newly admitted patients. I also led group sessions for patients in the program. I conducted educational groups on topics such as effective communication skills and problem solving abilities, and general issues related to substance abuse. I provided supportive therapy (using cognitive/behavioral techniques) and counseling for individual patients throughout my field placement. I was responsible for orienting the new patients.

East Ridge Health Systems, September 1990 - July 1994. Water Street, Martinsburg, WV. Title: Community Development Specialist for Substance Abuse Prevention

I acted as a community organizer for Morgan, Berkeley and Jefferson Counties. My job responsibilities included bringing national efform in prevention to the Eastern Panhandle of West Virginia. Some of the campaigns included Red Ribbon Week in October and Alcohol Awareness Month in April. I also coordinated educational seminars and confinences. The topics included substance abuse prevention, feet alcohol syndrome and parenting classes. I worked with many different community groups, schools and agencies to start projects and programs in the local area that community members felt were needed. A few examples include 4 Boys and Olds Club in Morgan County, nummer camps for at-risk children at a musing home for interaction with senior restrictets, and summer camps in public housing projects.

Donghia Furniture and Textiles, 1989. Soho, New York NY.

Marketing Department of the central corporate office.

#### Boards and Committees I have Served on Include:

- Women's Health Advisory Group, City Hospital
- Chairperson for the Health and Human Services Task Porce for FOCUS
- Health and Human Services Task Rosee, Community Partnership for Berkeley and Motgan Counties
- Permand Issues Task Force, FOCUS
- Planned Approach to Community Meshin Committee
- School Drop out Prevention Committee, Berkeley County Schools
- Community Against Substance Abuse, Berkeley County Schools
- Board Member, Berkeley County Coalition for the Homeless
- Board Member, Morgan County Boys and Girls Club
- Board Member and Secretary for Just Say No of Berkeley County
- Board Member, Community Partnership for Motgan and Berkeley Counties
- Core Team, Jefferson County schools
- Migrant Workers Task Force for Prevention

#### Awards

- Award from my prevention colleagues throughout the state for making substance abuse prevention
  efforts grow in the state of West Virginia, 1994
- Community Partnership award for outstanding contributions to prevention, 1994
- Award from the FOCUS costition on substance abuse for prevention, 1994

References available upon request

# Appendix R

#### Social Worker Introduction

My name is and I am a Social Worker. I am working at Harpers Ferry Family Medicine and Jefferson Maternity Center for three months as part of a project. I will be working under the supervision of your physician. The project permits me to provide counseling and education to patients who have expressed concerns about situations in their lives which need to be addressed. Your provider will refer you to see me to discuss these situations. After an interview with the nurse practitioner, I will meet with you for four to six sessions to help you learn about your illness and learn new ways of coping. I do not provide long term psychotherapy sessions. Instead, it is my job to help you and your provider better manage the stress in your life and make lifestyle changes.

Information discussed in the sessions is confidential with a few exceptions. One exception is if you reveal the intent to hurt yourself or someone else. In addition, I am obligated to report incidences of child abuse.

Please let me know if you have questions. I look forward to working with you,

Appendix S		
•		•

	<u> </u>
	REFERRAL FORM
÷	Name of referral
	Birth date
:	Reason for referral:
:	
<del>.</del>	
į	
· I	Psychiatric history:
· <del> </del>	
1	
<u>:</u>	Current medical problems:
:	
`	
	Current medications:
! !	Individual making referral
:   	